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PULSAR GROUP PLC

("Pulsar Group", the "Company" or the "Group")

 

FINAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2024

 

P ulsar Group P lc (AI M: P ULS), the market leading audience intel l igence bus iness  del ivering So&ware-as-a-Service ("Saa S")

solu*ons for the global  marke*ng and communica*ons industries , i s  pleased to announce i ts  final  results  for the year

ended 30 November 2024.

 

Highlights

 

·    P ulsar Group's  strategy is  focussed on three key pi l lars : s treaml ining opera*ons for efficiency, scal ing a  product-

led growth model  to deepen customer engagement, and reinven*ng customer expecta*ons with AI -driven

innova*on. Successful  execu*on of this  strategy underpins  expecta*ons of con*nued growth in Annual ised

Recurring Revenue ("AR R") a longs ide s ignificantly improved opera*ng performance, driving sustainable margin

expansion and improved cash generation.

 

·   Annual ised Recurring Revenue ("AR R") increased by £2.0m1 in the period, demonstra*ng sustained growth

momentum across  the Group. The AR R growth was driven by a  four-percentage point increase in renewal  rates

compared to the prior year, demonstra*ng the pos i*ve impact of the Group's  investments  in products  and

services  which have clearly resonated with customers.

 

·    Revenue for the year was  £62.0 mi l l ion (2023: £62.4 mi l l ion reported, £61.3m1), with recurring revenue

compris ing 98% of total  revenue (2023: 95%) as  the Group has  con*nued to focus  on winning and del ivering

profi table, long-term customer contracts .

 

·    The Group del ivered Adjusted EB I TDA for the year of £9.3 mi l l ion (2023: £7.3 mi l l ion). A key focus  during 2024 was

the Group's  ongoing cost reduc*on programme, des igned to ensure that the Group has  a  stable and profitable

core bus iness  from which to grow, a longs ide the del ivery of improved renewal  rates  and growing AR R.

Management remains  focussed on del ivering s ignificantly improved opera*ng performance in 2025 and beyond

to support margin expansion and cash generation.

 

·    New cl ient wins  in the EM EA & North America region during the year include: Alpine Racing; Amazon Studios; A&E

Televis ion Networks; Colgate-Palmol ive; Co-opera*ve Group; Coty; Department for Culture, Media and Sport;

Domino's ; Electronic Arts ; Foreign, Commonwealth and Development O ffice; Historic Royal  Palaces; Huel ; JP

Morgan Chase; MarrioH; Mi*e; Na*onal  Audit O ffice; NatWest; Next; O fcom; P ubl icis ; ReckiH Benckiser; Related

Argent; Savi l l s ; Syneos Health; Trenital ia; Uni lever; Univers i ty Col lege London; and WWF.

 

·    I n the APAC region, new cl ient wins  during the year include: Ambulance Victoria; As ics ; ASX ; Austral ian Grand P rix;

C l imate Change Authori ty; Energy Austral ia; Federa*on of Austral ian Scien*fic and Technological  Socie*es;

I nsular Li fe; I nsurance Counci l  of Austral ia; I nterna*onal  O lympic CommiHee; Medicines  New Zealand; Ministry

of F inance Malays ia; O C BC; P rime Minister's  O ffice - S ingapore; Q ueensland Pol ice; Securi*es  Commiss ion

Malays ia; and Univers i ties  Austral ia .

 

·    At 30 November 2024, the Group's  net debt pos i*on was £4.9 mi l l ion (2023: net cash £2.2 mi l l ion).  The Group has

in place a  £3.0 mi l l ion debt faci l i ty and a £3.0 mi l l ion overdraft faci l i ty. 

 

Christopher Satterthwaite, Non-Executive Chairman of Pulsar Group, commented:

 



"2024 has  been a pivotal  year for P ulsar Group as  we've navigated unprecedented vola*l i ty across  media, technology,

and geopol i*cal  landscapes. I n the face of shi&ing regulatory frameworks, economic uncertainty, and the rapid rise of

genera*ve AI , our team has  responded with agi l i ty and vis ion, del ivering real -*me audience intel l igence and trusted

ins ights  that our cl ients  rely on to make cri*cal  decis ions. The successful  rebrand to P ulsar Group this  year was  more

than cosme*c; i t represents  the integra*on of our technology, ta lent, and opera*ons into a  unified plaOorm bui l t for

scalable, long-term profi tabi l i ty.

 

O ur progress  rests  on three pi l lars : s treaml ining opera*ons for improved opera*onal  efficiency, scal ing a  product-led

growth model  to deepen customer engagement, and reinven*ng customer expecta*ons with AI -driven innova*on. By

consol ida*ng plaOorms, reducing costs  and automa*ng processes , we're bui lding an agi le organisa*on to del iver media

and audience intel l igence with unprecedented speed and precis ion.

 

O ur commercial  momentum is  reflected in both con*nued AR R growth and a series  of landmark cl ient wins . Contract wins

such as  a  new, group-wide partnership with one of the world's  largest marke*ng services  holding companies  and

marquee addi*ons from government departments  to global  enterprises  underscore the relevance of our plaOorm to a

wide range of stakeholders . These successes , combined with our ongoing cost-reduc*on programme and a focus  on

profitable bus iness , pos i*on P ulsar to del iver s ignificantly improved opera*ng performance with sustainable margin

expansion and cash generation.

 

Through 2025, we'l l  execute with discipl ine, focus  on high-impact growth areas  and embed AI  across  our suite to

reinforce our omnichannel  intel l igence leadership. W ith our market-leading plaOorm and dedicated team, P ulsar Group

is  poised to del iver lasting shareholder value and empower cl ients  to shape their narratives  with confidence."

 

1      On a  cons ta nt curre ncy ba s i s .
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Forward looking statements

This  announcement contains  forward-looking statements .

 

These statements  appear in a  number of places  in this  announcement and include statements  regarding our inten*ons,

bel iefs  or current expecta*ons concerning, among other things , our results  of opera*ons, revenue, financial  condi*on,

l iquidity, prospects , growth, strategies , new products , the level  of product launches  and the markets  in which we operate.

 

Readers  are cau*oned that any such forward-looking statements  are not guarantees  of future performance and involve

risks  and uncertain*es, and that actual  results  may differ materia l ly from those in the forward-looking statements  as  a

result of various  factors .

 

These factors  include any adverse change in regula*ons, unforeseen opera*onal  or technical  problems, the nature of the

compe**on that we wi l l  encounter, wider economic condi*ons including economic downturns  and changes  in financial

and equity markets . We undertake no obl iga*on publ icly to update or revise any forward-looking statements , except as

may be required by law.

 

This  announcement contains  an extract from the Pulsar Group Plc Annual  Report 2024.

 

 

Chairman's statement

 

2024 has  proven to be a defining moment for organisa*ons naviga*ng the complex intersec*on of media, technology and



2024 has  proven to be a defining moment for organisa*ons naviga*ng the complex intersec*on of media, technology and

trust. Around the world, heightened geopol i*cal  tens ions, regulatory flux, and sustained economic uncertainty have

placed new demands on governments , bus inesses  and insti tutions  to communicate with speed, precis ion and integri ty.

 

From the US elec*on cycle and ongoing conflicts  in Europe and the Middle East to rapid shi&s  in regulatory frameworks

around AI  and digi ta l  plaOorms, the environment has  been shaped by vola*l i ty. For P ulsar Group, this  con*nues to

represent an opportunity. Amidst this  turbulence, stakeholders  have become more discerning-demanding transparency,

accountabi l i ty, and relevance from the organisations  they choose to engage with.

 

At P ulsar Group, we bel ieve this  new real i ty reinforces  the need for real -*me audience intel l igence, trusted ins ights , and

plaOorms that empower confident decis ion-making. I n 2024, we have con*nued to del iver on this  mandate, accelera*ng

our transformation into a  global  SaaS bus iness  des igned for long-term, scalable profi tabi l i ty and cash generation.

 

From Brand to Platform

The rebrand to P ulsar Group marked a s ignificant mi lestone in the evolu*on of our bus iness . I t represented far more than

a change of name; I t s ignal led the culmina*on of a  mul*-year integra*on journey and transforma*on which brought

together our technology, ta lent and opera*onal  footprint under one brand and one vis ion, pos i*oning the Group to scale

with greater efficiency, strategic coherence and commercial  clari ty.

 

At i ts  core, the rebrand reflects  our deep commitment to the role we play within the global  communica*ons ecosystem. As

the media and informa*on environment becomes more fragmented, polarised and digi ta l ly driven, the abi l i ty to monitor,

understand and influence publ ic sentiment has  become a cri tical  requirement for organisations  of a l l  types. Pulsar Group

has  bui l t a  plaOorm that enables  cl ients  not only to track opinion but to interpret i ts  meaning, an*cipate i ts  direc*on,

and shape i ts  evolution with speed, credibi l i ty and precis ion.

 

Today, P ulsar i s  recognised as  a  market leader in omnichannel  audience and media intel l igence. We serve a diverse and

growing cl ient base-spanning publ ic sector departments , mul*na*onal  corpora*ons, regulated industries , non-profit

organisa*ons and communica*ons agencies . W hat unites  these cl ients  i s  a  common chal lenge: the need to engage with

increas ingly complex audiences  across  a  rapidly shi&ing media landscape, whi le managing reputa*onal  risk and

del ivering measurable outcomes.

 

O ur differen*ated value l ies  in helping cl ients  cut through this  complexity. We do not s imply surface men*ons or monitor

sen*ment; we provide clari ty, context and fores ight. By integra*ng media monitoring, socia l  l i s tening, stakeholder

mapping, and AI -driven ins ights  into a  s ingle cohes ive plaOorm, we give cl ients  a  hol is*c view of how narra*ves  form,

who drives  them, and how to respond with impact. Our ins ights  are trusted not only by communications  teams, but

by execu*ve leadership, publ ic affairs  profess ionals , investor rela*ons teams, and pol icy advisors , underscoring the

strategic relevance and cross-functional  uti l i ty of our offering.

 

The P ulsar brand now stands  for precis ion, relevance and integri ty in a  digi ta l  world that i s  o&en anything but. I n an era

where the boundaries  between fact and fic*on, s ignal  and noise, and influence and manipula*on are increas ingly

blurred, we help our cl ients  navigate with confidence. O ur plaOorm provides  a  rel iable compass  which is  anchored in

data, powered by AI , and guided by deep domain exper*se. We empower our customers  to stay ahead of the narra*ve,

earn trust, and make decis ions  with fores ight rather than hinds ight.

 

The strength of the P ulsar brand also supports  our broader commercial  ambi*ons. I t enables  us  to engage more

effec*vely with enterprise cl ients , pos i*on ourselves  as  a  strategic partner rather than a transac*onal  vendor, and

attract top-tier ta lent a l igned to our miss ion.

 

 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Execution: Efficient, Scalable, Indispensable

Our strategy is  bui l t around three interconnected pi l lars :

 

·   Streaml ine to Thrive - transforming global  opera*ons through plaOorm consol ida*on, cost base reduc*on and

automation.

·   Scale with I mpact - adop*ng a product-led growth model  to drive adop*on, renewals  and upsel l  whi le reducing

acquis i tion and servicing costs .



·    Reinvent the Market - transforming cl ient experience through con*nued investment in AI , that moves  us  into the

realm of strategic intel l igence and stakeholder engagement.

 

We have con*nued to make strong progress  in del ivering our opera*onal  strategy, with a  clear focus  on enhancing

efficiency, scalabi l i ty and long-term value crea*on. Throughout the year, the Group has  remained discipl ined in i ts

execu*on, ensuring that our organisa*onal  structure and underlying systems are wel l  pos i*oned to support sustainable

growth.

 

As  part of this  transforma*on, we have taken cons idered steps  to op*mise our opera*ng model , a l igning our capabi l i*es

to support future strategic priori*es  whi le maintaining a  strong emphasis  on qual i ty, service cons istency and cost

effec*veness . This  work has  contributed to a  more streaml ined and agi le organisa*on, with the flexibi l i ty to respond to

evolving market dynamics  and cl ient needs.

 

I n paral lel , we have undertaken several  ini*a*ves  a imed at s impl i fying the way we work, strengthening internal

processes , and ensuring we are a l loca*ng capital  and resources  in a  manner that supports  innova*on and commercial

performance. These ini*a*ves  are a lready del ivering tangible benefits , and we expect further opera*onal  leverage and

additional  cost savings  to be real ised as  we move into the next phase of our strategy.

 

Looking ahead, we remain focused on driving con*nuous improvement across  the bus iness . O ur efforts  to embed greater

standardisa*on, automa*on and scalabi l i ty wi l l  support both margin expansion and strategic agi l i ty, reinforcing our

abi l i ty to respond effectively to opportunities  and chal lenges  in an increas ingly complex global  environment.

 

Actionable Insights

At the core of our transforma*on is  the enhancement of capabi l i*es  that support leadership in audience, brand and

reputa*on intel l igence. We're del ivering faster, ins ight-led solu*ons us ing cuTng-edge data, analy*cs , and AI -

trans lating complex s ignals  into decis ion-ready ins ight.

 

W here tradi*onal  analys is  was  manual  or periodic, our real -*me analy*cs  and automa*on give cl ients  earl ier vis ibi l i ty

of risks , more accurate measurement of communications  impact, and the tools  to make better-informed decis ions.

 

O ur user base is  expanding from communica*ons and publ ic affairs  profess ionals  to execu*ve teams and investor

rela*ons leads. As  we del iver beHer user experiences  and address  more use cases-l ike campaign evalua*on, i ssue

monitoring, and stakeholder engagement-we are reinforcing recurring revenue in l ine with our product-led strategy.

 

Profit and Cash Generation is King

As we conclude integra*on and transforma*on efforts , our primary focus  is  profitabi l i ty and cash genera*on. W ith

structural  changes  largely complete, we are now in a  phase centred on financial  discipl ine, opera*ng efficiency and

capital  deployment a l igned to shareholder return.

 

O ur P R & Communica*ons divis ion is  the cornerstone of this  strategy, with stable customer metrics  and a scalable

growth model  that supports  rel iable cash flow. I n contrast, our Marke*ng divis ion, which services  global  enterprise

cl ients , remains  volati le due to extended procurement cycles  and economic pressure on marketing budgets .

 

We are responding with a  pragma*c approach: We wi l l  focus  our go to market ac*vi*es  in areas  where we see clear

pathways  to sustainable, profitable growth, focus ing on scalabi l i ty, recurring revenue and capital  efficiency. At the same

*me, we are conduc*ng an opera*onal  review of those bus iness  areas  that are not del ivering cons istent profit and cash

genera*on. This  approach ensures  that our resources, both financial  and manageria l , are deployed where they can

del iver the greatest long-term value.

 

The Rise of Generative AI

O ne of the most transforma*ve shi&s  is  the rise of genera*ve AI , led by tools  l ike ChatGPT and other LLMs. These redefine

how informa*on is  created, processed and distributed, with far-reaching impl ica*ons for the marke*ng and

communications  industries .

 

At P ulsar, we've long harnessed these tools  for narra*ve detec*on, sen*ment benchmarking, and AI -ass isted ins ights

del ivery. But mass  adoption introduces  new chal lenges-mis information, content saturation, and reputation risks .

 

This  ra ises  the bar for communicators . D is*nc*ve, ins ight-driven work is  now essen*al . P ulsar's  plaOorm equips  cl ients

to understand and influence evolving narra*ves, and cri*cal ly, to track how AI  i tsel f i s  reshaping reputa*on. As  LLMs

become part of how people search and generate content, we are uniquely pos i*oned to measure how brands are



become part of how people search and generate content, we are uniquely pos i*oned to measure how brands are

represented within these tools .

 

Current trading

Despite the tough macroeconomic environment, the Group has  con*nued to demonstrate AR R growth momentum in 2025,

with net ARR growth of £0.6 mi l l ion achieved in the fi rst four months  of the financial  year.

 

This  performance has  been driven in part by the expansion of our long-standing rela*onship with one of the world's

largest adver*s ing and marke*ng services  holding companies . Fol lowing a successful  track record of del ivering services

to several  of the group's  individual  agencies  over the past three years , P ulsar Group has  been selected as  a  group-wide

partner under a  major new contract. This  strategic mi lestone reflects  both the cons istent growth in annual  recurring

revenue and the pos itive feedback received from existing agency stakeholders .

 

Under the new agreement, P ulsar's  plaOorm wi l l  replace mul*ple incumbent compe*tor products  currently in use across

the customer's  global  porOol io, s treaml ining opera*ons and standardis ing workflows across  agencies . As  a  result of this

expanded contract, the customer's  annual  recurring spend with P ulsar has  increased by over 150% to US 2.2 mi l l ion. The

deal  i s  expected to generate US 6.6 mi l l ion in total  revenue over the dura*on of the contract, further reinforcing P ulsar's

pos ition as  a  trusted, long-term partner within the global  marketing and advertis ing technology landscape.

 

I n addi*on to this  strategic win, P ulsar Group has  con*nued to broaden i ts  cl ient base. Notable new cl ients  secured

during the first four months  of F Y2025 include: Airservices  Austral ia; Anglo American; Arts  Counci l  England; Austral ian

Ministry of I nvestment, Trade and I ndustry; Austral ian O lympic CommiHee; Austral ian P harmaceu*cal  I ndustries ;

Department of Health and Socia l  Care; Foreign, Commonwealth and Development O ffice; I nmarsat; Network Rai l ; O ne New

Zealand; Papa Johns; Petronas; Serco; SM Group Phi l ippines; Sport Ireland; and UOB Malays ia.

 

The encouraging opera*onal  start to 2025 highl ights  the Group's  ongoing progress  in advancing i ts  market-leading

products , whi le s imultaneously op*mis ing i ts  opera*ng model . The expansion of key cl ient rela*onships , combined with

the acquis i*on of a  diverse range of new customers, pos i*ons the Group for sustained future growth in AR R across  the

business . W hi le the Group's  reported results  con*nue to be impacted by foreign exchange (FX ) variabi l i ty, par*cularly in

rela*on to the AUD and US D, this  i s  not expected to detract from the underlying improvement in i ts  financial  and

operational  performance.

 

Bui lding on this  commercial  momentum, the Group has  a lso con*nued to implement i ts  focused cost reduc*on

programme. This  ini*a*ve is  a imed at s ignificantly improving opera*ng performance and efficiency, driving enhanced

profitabi l i ty and cash flow, and ensuring the bus iness  remains  wel l -pos i*oned for sustainable, scalable growth. The

an*cipated outcomes of these efforts  a l ign with the Board's  expecta*ons of materia l ly improved opera*ng performance

by the Group over time.

 

In Summary

2024 has  underscored the growing need for clari ty, speed and trust in communica*ons. P ulsar Group has  made strong

strategic progress  by streaml ining opera*ons, focus ing on profitable growth, and pos i*oning i tsel f as  a  trusted partner

in a  complex digi ta l  landscape.

 

By concentra*ng on our P R & Communica*ons divis ion and inves*ng in AI -powered innova*on, we are del ivering

scalable, ins ight-led solutions  that meet the evolving needs of our cl ients .

 

Looking ahead, we remain focused on execu*on, margin expansion and discipl ined capital  a l loca*on. W ith a  clear

strategy, unified plaOorm and growing relevance across  publ ic and private sectors , we bel ieve P ulsar Group is  wel l

placed to del iver sustainable value for shareholders  whi le suppor*ng cl ients  in shaping their narra*ve with credibi l i ty

and fores ight.

 

 

 

Christopher Satterthwaite CBE

Chairman

 

Strategic report (Extract)

 



 

Results

Despite a  chal lenging environment where marke*ng spend in par*cular has  been restricted, P ulsar has  successful ly

del ivered another year of encouraging constant currency AR R growth to £61.7m. The Group's  Annual  Recurring Revenue

increased by £2.0m in the period, highl igh*ng sustained growth and res i l ience. The AR R growth was driven by a  four-

percentage point increase in renewal  rates  compared to the prior year, demonstrating the pos itive impact of the Group's

investments  in products  and services  which have clearly resonated with customers.

 

Each region within the Group contributed to the AR R growth, with EM EA & North America showing an accelera*on in

growth compared to the prior year. I n the APAC region, the Group saw a strong first hal f with several  encouraging

winbacks  from compe*tors  but an increase in compe**ve pressure in the second hal f, par*cularly in the publ ic sector.

Notwithstanding the chal lenging environment, the Group con*nues to see an encouraging pipel ine for further new

business  and winback opportunities  in FY25.

 

Revenue in the year was  £61,997,000 (2023: £62,402,000 reported, £61,300,000 constant currency). Recurring revenue

comprised 98% of the total  (2023: 95%), with sales  teams incen*vised to focus  on high contribu*on Saa S products . The

Group had an adjusted profit before interest, tax, deprecia*on and amor*sa*on (Adjusted EB I TDA) for the year of

£9,279,000 (2023: £7,263,000).

 

The Directors  bel ieve that the disclosure of Adjusted EB I TDA provides  addi*onal  useful  informa*on on the core

opera*onal  performance of the Group and i ts  ongoing cost base to shareholders , and review the results  of the Group on

an adjusted bas is  internal ly. I t i s  an important metric as  i t provides  clear guidance on the on going long-term cost base

and profi tabi l i ty of the Group.

 

The term 'adjusted' i s  not a  defined term under I F RS and may not therefore be comparable with s imi larly *tled profit

measurements  reported by other companies . I t i s  not intended to be a subs*tute for, or superior to, I F RS measurements  of

profi t.

ARR FY22
FY23

Change FY23
FY24

Change FY24
EMEA & North America (Constant Currency) £28.3m +£1.1m £29.4m +£1.7m £31.1m
EMEA & North America (Reported) £28.6m +£1.1m £29.7m +£1.4m £31.1m

APAC (Constant Currency) £28.7m +£1.6m £30.3m +£0.3m £30.6m
APAC (Reported) £31.4m +£0.2m £31.6m -£1.0m £30.6m

Group (Constant Currency) £57.0m +£2.7m £59.7m +£2.0m £61.7m
Group (Reported) £60.0m +£1.3m £61.3m +£0.4m £61.7m
 

 

Adjustments  are made in respect of the Group's :

·    Non-recurring administrative expenses;

·    Share of profi t or loss  of associates;

·    Profi t or loss  on sale of associates;

·    Share-based payment charges.

 

Adjusted EB I TDA excludes  non-recurring administra*ve expenses  of £8,561,000 (2023: £8,988,000), a  share of loss  of

associate of £128,000 (2023: £198,000), a  profit on the sale of an associate of £1,457,000 (2023: Ni l ) and a share-based

payments  charge of £445,000 (2023: £915,000).

 

Non-recurring administra*ve expenses  include costs  incurred in rela*on to the migra*on and integra*on of I sen*a and

associated restructuring costs . Non-recurring salary costs  for the year were £6,101,000 (2023: £7,231,000) which

includes  the year to date costs  and redundancy costs  of roles  that ei ther exi ted during 2024 or which were already

iden*fied to exi t during 2025. Non-recurring salary costs  a lso includes  the cost of specific roles  hired to del iver the

global  integra*on of the bus iness  and which are not cons idered to be required longer term. I n addi*on to non-recurring

salary costs , the Group incurred £2,050,000 (2023: £1,888,000) of dupl icated technology costs  as  i t bui l t out key

func*onal i ty across  mul*ple plaOorms which is  expected to scale back during 2025. Non-recurring copyright related

expense for the year was  £Ni l  (2023: £528,000). The Group also had other non-recurring expenses  of £410,000 (2023:

£320,000) and the release of a  bus iness  rates  overprovis ion generated a non-recurring income of £Ni l  (2023: £980,000).

 

The Group's  earnings  before interest, tax, deprecia*on and amor*sa*on (EB I TDA) profit for the year was  £1,467,000

(2023: loss  of £2,838,000). EB I TDA is  an important metric as  i t provides  guidance on the financial  performance of the

Group including non-recurring costs  incurred. Loss  before taxation was £6,670,000 (2023: £10,833,000). In arriving at the

loss  before taxa*on, the Group has  incurred £566,000 of net financial  expense (2023: £241,000) and charged £7,570,000

in deprecia*on and amor*sa*on (2023: £7,753,000). £1,707,000 of this  charge related to the amor*sa*on of intangible



in deprecia*on and amor*sa*on (2023: £7,753,000). £1,707,000 of this  charge related to the amor*sa*on of intangible

assets  aris ing on acquis i tion (2023: £2,065,000).

 

Loss per share

The bas ic loss  per share was 5.94p (2023: 9.09p).

 

Cash

Cash at the year-end stood at £1,001,000 (2023: £2,248,000). The Group had £5,943,000 debt at the year end (2023: £Ni l ).

The total  decrease in cash and cash equivalents  during the year was  £1,247,000 (2023: decrease of £2,556,000). The total

increase in debt during the year was  £5,943,000 (2023: £Ni l ).

 

The net cash ouOlow from opera*ons during the year was  £74,000 (2023: inflow of £8,557,000). The net cash ouOlow

from inves*ng ac*vi*es  for the year was  £5,524,000 (2023: ouOlow of £9,072,000), reflec*ng the con*nued investment in

the Group's  products .

 

The net cash inflow from financing ac*vi*es  for the year was  £1,364,000 (2023: ouOlow of £2,041,000), reflec*ng the

drawdown of loans, plus  interest and lease l iabi l i ty repayments  in respect of the Group's  head office.

 

Key performance indicators

Management accounts  are prepared on a monthly bas is  and provide performance indicators  covering revenue, gross

margins , EB I TDA, result before tax, result a&er tax, cash balances  and recurring revenue. Recurring revenue is  the

proportion of Group revenue which is  expected to continue in the future. The key performance indicators  for the year are:

 2024
£'m

2023
£'m

Annual  Contract Value base 61.7 61.3

Revenue 62.0 62.4

Gross  margin (%) 73% 74%

Adjusted EBITDA 9.3 7.3

EBITDA profi t/(loss) 1.5 (2.8)

Reported loss  before taxation (6.7) (10.8)

Reported loss  after taxation (6.6) (7.9)

Cash 1.0 2.2

Recurring revenue 60.6 59.5

 

These performance indicators  are measured against both an approved budget and the previous  year's  actual  results .

Further analys is  of the Group's  performance is  provided earl ier in this  Strategic Report.

 

Each month the Board assesses  the performance of the Group based on key performance indicators . These are used in

conjunc*on with the controls  described in the corporate governance statement and relate to a  wide variety of aspects  of

the bus iness , including: new bus iness  and renewal  sales  performance; marketing, development and research activi ty; year

to date financial  performance, profi tabi l i ty forecasting and cash flow forecasting.

 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended 30 November 2024

 

2024 2023

 Note £'000 £'000

    
Revenue 3 61,997 62,402
Cost of sales (16,889) (16,340)
Gross profit   45,108 46,062
Recurring administrative expenses 5 (35,829) (38,799)
Adjusted EBITDA   9,279 7,263
Non-recurring administrative expenses 5 (8,561) (8,988)
Share of loss  of associate 11 (128) (198)
Profi t on sale of associate  1,457 -
Share-based payments 21 (580) (915)
EBITDA   1,467 (2,838)
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 12 (308) (524)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 (1,370) (1,526)
Amortisation of intangible assets  - internal ly generated 10 (4,186) (3,639)
Amortisation of intangible assets  - acquis i tion related 10 (1,707) (2,065)
Operating loss 5 (6,104) (10,592)



Operating loss 5 (6,104) (10,592)
Financial  income  18 12
Financial  expense 7 (584) (253)
Loss before taxation  (6,670) (10,833)
Taxation credit 8  97 2,931
Loss for the year  (6,573) (7,902)

 

Other comprehensive loss  

Exchange losses  aris ing on trans lation of foreign operations (1,009) (3,701)

Total comprehensive loss for the period attributable to the owners of the Parent Company (7,582) (11,603)

Earnings per share  2024 2023

Basic loss  per share 9 (5.94)p (9.09p)

Di luted loss  per share 9 (5.94)p (9.09p)

 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 30 November 2024
 
 2024 2023

 Note £'000 £'000

Non-current assets  

Intangible assets 10 68,406 68,621

Investments 11  75 264

Right-of-use assets 15  3,067 2,190

Property, plant and equipment 12  683 793

Deferred tax asset 19  5,884 6,808

Total non-current assets   78,115 78,676

Current assets  

Trade and other receivables 13 9,240 9,765

Current tax receivables 45 -

Cash and cash equivalents 22 1,001 2,248

Total current assets  10,286 12,013

Total assets  88,401 90,689
 
Current liabilities

 

Trade and other payables 14 11,132 13,533

Accruals  4,876 4,311

Contract l iabi l i ties 16  16,139 15,031

Current tax l iabi l i ties - 148

Provis ions 23 - 217

Interest bearing loans  and borrowings 17,26 5,943 -

Lease l iabi l i ties 15 1,107 1,300

Total current liabilities  39,197 34,540

Non-current liabilities  

Provis ions 23 302 173

Lease l iabi l i ties 15 2,132 1,233

Deferred tax l iabi l i ties 19 4,086 5,057

Total non-current liabilities  6,520 6,463

Total liabilities  45,717 41,003
 
Net assets  42,684 49,686
 
Equity

 

Share capital 20 6,526 6,526

Treasury shares (141) (141)

Share premium account  74,424 74,424

Capital  redemption reserve  395 395

Share option reserve  3,517 2,937
(1,974)



Foreign exchange reserve (1,974) (965)

Other reserve  502 502

Retained loss (40,565) (33,992)

Total equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company   42,684 49,686

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 30 November 2024

 

 

Group
 

Share
capital
£'000

 

Treasury
shares
£'000

 

Share
premium

account
£'000

 

Capital
redemption

reserve
£'000

 

Share
option

reserve
£'000

 

Foreign
exchange

reserve
£'000

 

Other
reserve

£'000
 

Retained
earnings

£'000
 

Total
£'000

 
At 30 November
2022

6,526 (141) 74,424 395 2,022 2,736 502 (26,090) 60,374

Loss  for the year - - - - - - - (7,902) (7,902)
Other comprehensive
loss  for the year

- - - - - (3,701) - - (3,701)

Share-based
payments

- - - - 915 - - 915

At 30 November
2023

6,526 (141) 74,424 395 2,937 (965) 502 (33,992) 49,686

Loss  for the year  -   -   -   -   -   -   -  (6,573) (6,573)
Other comprehensive
loss  for the year

(1,009)  -  - (1,009)

Share-based
payments

 -   -   -   -   580  -   -   -   580

At 30 November
2024

 6,526 (141)  74,424  395  3,517 (1,974)  502 (40,565) 42,684

          

 

Share capital and share premium account

W hen shares  are issued, the nominal  value of the shares  is  credited to the share capital  reserve. Any premium paid above the

nominal  value is  taken to the share premium account. P ulsar Group plc shares  have a nominal  value of 5p per share. D irectly

aHributable transac*on costs  associated with the issue of equity investments  are accounted for as  a  reduc*on from the share

premium account.

 

Treasury shares

The returned shares  are held in treasury and aHract no vo*ng rights . The return of shares  has  been accounted for in accordance

with I AS 32 'F inancial  instruments: P resenta*on' such that the instruments  have been deducted from equity with no gain or loss

recognised in profi t or loss . The balance on this  reserve represents  the cost to the Group of the treasury shares  held.

 

Share option reserve

This  reserve arises  as  a  result of amounts  being recognised in the consol idated statement of comprehensive income rela*ng to

share-based payment transactions  granted under the Group's  share option scheme. The reserve wi l l  fa l l  as  share options  vest and

are exercised over the l i fe of the options.

 

Capital redemption reserve

This  reserve arises  as  a  result of keeping with the doctrine of capital  maintenance when the Company purchases  and redeems i ts

own shares. The amounts  transferred into/out from this  reserve from a purchase/ redemp*on is  equal  to the amount by which

share capital  has  been reduced/increased, when the purchase/ redemp*on has  been financed whol ly out of distributable profits ,

and is  the amount by which the nominal  value exceeds the proceeds of any new issue of share capital , when the

purchase/redemption has  been financed partly out of distributable profi ts .

 

Foreign exchange reserve

This  reserve comprises  of gains  and losses  aris ing on retrans lating the net assets  of overseas  operations  into sterl ing.

 



Other reserve

This  reserve arises  as  a  result of the difference between the fa ir value and the nominal  value of cons idera*on shares  issued on

acquis i tion for which merger rel ief i s  taken under S612 of the Companies  Act 2006.

 

Retained earnings

The retained earnings  reserve records  the accumulated profits  and losses  of the Group s ince incep*on of the bus iness . W here

subsidiary undertakings  are acquired, only profi ts  and losses  aris ing from the date of acquis i tion are included.

 

Consolidated statement of cash flow

Year ended 30 November 2024
 
 Note 2024

£'000
2023

£'000  
Loss for the year  (6,573) (7,902)  
Adjusted for:   
Taxation 8 (97) (2,931)
Financial  expense 7  584 253
Financial  income  (18) (12)
Depreciation and amortisation 10,12,15  7,570 7,753
Share based payments   580 915
Share of loss  of associate 11  128 198
Gain on disposal  of associate             11 (1,457) -  
Loss  on termination of lease 15 (372) -
Operating cash inflow/(outflow) before changes in working capital   345 (1,726)  

Decrease in trade and other receivables   625
 

1,131
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (2,486) 4,584
Increase/(decrease) in accruals   565 (635)
Increase in contract l iabi l i ties   1,108 4,012
Decrease in provis ions  (88) (81)
Net cash inflow from operations  before taxation   69 7,285  
 
Taxation (paid)/received

  
(143)

 
1,272

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operations  (74) 8,557  
 
Cash outflows from investing
Interest received

 

 18

 
 

12
Acquis i tion of property, plant and equipment 12,15 (383) (509)
Acquis i tion of intangible assets 10 (6,577) (8,575)
Consideration on disposal  of associate 11 1,418 -
Net cash outflow from investing  (5,524) (9,072)
 
Cash inflows/(outflows) from financing

  

Interest paid  (566) (241)
Drawdown of loans  notes  and other borrowing  3,000 -
Lease l iabi l i ties  paid  (1,013) (1,800)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing  1,421 (2,041)  
 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

 
(4,177)

 
(2,556)

 

Opening cash and cash equivalents 22  2,248 4,922
Exchange loss  on cash and cash equivalents  (13) (118)
Closing cash and cash equivalents (including overdraft) 22,26 (1,942) 2,248  

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

 

1. General Information

 

P ulsar Group P lc ('the Company') (formerly Access  I ntel l igence P LC) and i ts  subs idiaries  (together the 'Group') provides  advanced

tools  and human ins ight to give brands, agencies  and organisations  the power to anticipate, react and adapt.

 

The Company is  a  publ ic l imited company under the Companies  Act 2006 and is  l i s ted on the AIM market

of the London Stock Exchange and is  incorporated and domici led in the UK . The address  of the Company's  registered office is

provided in the Directors  and Advisers  page of this  Annual  Report.

 

I n May 2024 the Group rebranded from Access  I ntel l igence P lc to P ulsar Group P lc. The P ulsar brand has  long been highly

regarded as  the leading technology offering in the growing audience intel l igence market, which has  driven the rebrand.

 



 

The financial  informa*on set out in this  document does  not cons*tute the Company's  statutory accounts  for the years  ended 30

November 2024 or 2023. Statutory accounts  for the years  ended 30 November 2023 and 30 November 2024, which were approved

by the Directors  on 30 Apri l  2025, have been reported on by the I ndependent Auditors . The I ndependent Auditors ' Reports  on the

Annual  Report and Financial  Statements  for each of 2023 and 2024 were unqual ified, did not draw aHen*on to any maHers  by

way of emphasis , and did not contain a  statement under 498(2) or 498(3) of the Companies  Act 2006. 

 

Statutory accounts  for the year ended 30 November 2023 have been filed with the Registrar of Companies .  The statutory accounts

for the year ended 30 November 2024 wi l l  be del ivered to the Registrar of Companies  in due course and wi l l  be posted to

shareholders  shortly, and therea&er wi l l  be avai lable from the Company's  registered office at Northburgh House, 10 Northburgh

Street, London, England, EC1V 0AT and from the Company's  website: www.pulsargroup.com

 

The financial  informa*on set out in these results  has  been prepared us ing the recogni*on and measurement principles  of

I nterna*onal  Accoun*ng Standards, I nterna*onal  F inancial  Repor*ng Standards  and I nterpreta*ons in conformity with the

requirements  of the Companies  Act 2006.  The accoun*ng pol icies  adopted in these results  have been cons istently appl ied to a l l

the years  presented and are cons istent with the pol icies  used in the prepara*on of the financial  s tatements  for the year ended 30

November 2024, except for those that relate to new standards  and interpreta*ons effec*ve for the first *me for periods  beginning

on (or a&er) 1 December 2023. There are deemed to be no new standards, amendments  and interpreta*ons to exis*ng standards,

which have been adopted by the Group, that have had a materia l  impact on the financial  s tatements .

 

 

2. Accounting policies

 

The principal  accoun*ng pol icies  appl ied in the prepara*on of these financial  s tatements  are set out below. These pol icies  have

been appl ied cons istently to a l l  the years  presented, unless  otherwise stated.

 

Basis of preparation

The financial  s tatements  have been prepared in accordance with interna*onal  accoun*ng standards  in conformity with the

requirements  of the Companies  Act 2006. The consol idated financial  s tatements  have been prepared under the historical  cost

convention and on a going concern bas is .

 

The prepara*on of financial  s tatements  in conformity with I F RS requires  the use of certain cri*cal  accoun*ng es*mates. I t a lso

requires  management to exercise i ts  judgement in the process  of applying the Group's  accounting pol icies .

 

Going concern

The Strategic Report discusses  P ulsar Group's  bus iness  ac*vi*es  and headl ine results , together with the financial  s tatements  and

notes  which detai l  the results  for the year, net current l iabi l i ty pos ition and cash flows for the year ended 30 November 2024.

 

The Board has  further cons idered two year financial  forecasts , which included detai led, sens i*sed, 24-month cash flow forecasts

from the year end. The sens i*sed forecasts  contained adverse assump*ons around new business  and upsel l  being reduced by

20% and renewal  rates  a lso decreas ing by 3.5 percentage points  compared to expected levels , whi lst addi*onal  cost reduc*on

ini*a*ves  were not assumed. These adverse assump*ons have been model led and, i f they were to crystal l i se, the forecasts

confirm that the Group would s*l l  be able to con*nue to operate for at least 12 months  from the date of this  report. The Board

considers  the assump*ons and plaus ible downside scenarios  that have been model led to test going concern to be reasonable

and reflective of the long-term 'software as  a  service' contracts  and contracted recurring revenue.

 

The Group meets  i ts  day to day working capital  requirements  through i ts  cash balance which was £1,001,000 at 30 November

2024. As  at the date of this  report, the directors  have a reasonable expecta*on that the Company and the Group have adequate

resources  to con*nue in opera*onal  existence for the foreseeable future. For this  reason, they con*nue to adopt the going

concern bas is  in preparing the financial  s tatements .

 

Significant judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies

The areas  where the Board has  made cri*cal  judgements  in applying the Group's  accoun*ng pol icies  (apart from those involving

estimations  which are dealt with separately below) are:

 

A)   Recognition of deferred tax assets

Judgement is  appl ied in the assessment of deferred tax assets  in relation to losses  to be recognised in the financial  s tatements . As

the Board has  forecasted a taxable profit in APAC in the next two years , a  deferred tax asset in excess  of deferred tax l iabi l i*es

has  been recognised in respect of this  region. No deferred tax asset in excess  of deferred tax l iabi l i*es  has  been recognised in

respect of the EMEA region. At 30 November 2024, the Group recognised a deferred tax asset of £5,884,000 (2023: £6,808,000) and
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respect of the EMEA region. At 30 November 2024, the Group recognised a deferred tax asset of £5,884,000 (2023: £6,808,000) and

a deferred tax l iabi l i ty of £4,086,000 (2023: £5,057,000). See Note 19 for further detai l .

 

B) Capitalisation of development costs

Management appl ies  judgement when determining the value of development costs  to be capital ised as  an intangible asset in

respect of i ts  product development programme. Judgements  include the technical  feas ibi l i ty, inten*on and avai labi l i ty of

resources  to complete the intangible asset so that the asset wi l l  be avai lable for use or sale and assessment of l ikely future

economic benefits . During the year, the Group capital ised £6,577,000 (2023: £8,498,000) of development costs . See Note 10 for

further detai l .

 

C) Identification of cash generating units for goodwill impairment testing

Judgement is  appl ied in the iden*fica*on of cash-genera*ng units  ("CGUs"). The Directors  have judged that the primary CGUs

used for impairment tes*ng should be: EM EA & NA, compris ing AI Media Data Limited, Access  I ntel l igence Media and

Communica*ons Limited, ResponseSource Ltd, Vuel io Austral ia  P ty Limited, Fenix Media Limited and Face US I nc; and APAC,

compris ing the acquired Isentia  enti ties . See Note 10 for further detai l .

 

D) Non-recurring administrative expenses

Due to the Group's  ac*vity in recent years , there are a  number of i tems which require judgement to be appl ied in determining

whether they are non-recurring in nature. I n the current year these relate largely to: restructuring costs , dupl icate so&ware costs

and non-recurring bus iness  rates . See Note 5 for further detai l .

 

E) Control of associates

During the year, the Group sold a  20% holding in Track Record Holdings  Limited, leaving a  1.4% stake. The Group retains  directors

on the board of Track Record Holdings  Limited, but due to the share sale no longer has  s ignificant influence over the Company. As

a result of this  the investment in Track Record Holdings  Limited is  now no longer cons idered to be an associate.

 

Significant estimates in applying the Group's accounting policies

The areas  where the Board has  made s ignificant es*mates  and assump*ons in applying the Group's  accoun*ng pol icies  which

could have a materia l  impact on the financial  s tatements  are:

 

 

A) Carrying value of goodwill

The Group uses  forecast cash flow informa*on and es*mates  of future growth to assess  whether goodwi l l  i s  impaired. Key

assump*ons include the EB I TDA margin a l located to each CGU, the growth rate to perpetuity and the discount rate. I f the results

of an opera*on in future years  are adverse to the es*mates  used for impairment tes*ng, impairment may be triggered at that

point. Further detai ls , including sens itivi ty testing, are included within Note 10.

 

B) Time spent on capitalisable activities

The determination of the value of capital ised development costs  associated with employee salaries  and related expenses  is  based

on an estimation of the time al located by employees  to activi ties  that ful fi l  the cri teria  speci fied in IAS 38.

 

New standards and interpretations

The adop*on of the fol lowing men*oned amendments  in the current year have not had a materia l  impact on the

Group's/Company's  financial  s tatements .

 

New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective

At the date of authorisa*on of the financial  s tatements , the Group has  not early adopted the fol lowing amendments  to Standards

and Interpretations  that have been issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS S1 General  Requirements  for Disclosure of Sustainabi l i ty-related Financial  Information (1 January 2024)

IFRS S2 Cl imate-related Disclosures  (1 January 2024)

Amendments  to IAS 1 : Class i fication of l iabi l i ties  as  current or non-current (1 January 2024)

Amendments  to IFRS 16 : Lease Liabi l i ty in a  Sale and Leaseback (1 January 2024)

Amendments  to IAS 1 : Non-current Liabi l i ties  with Covenants  (1 January 2024)

 

These Standards  and amendments  are effec*ve from accoun*ng periods  beginning on or a&er the dates  shown above. The

directors  do not expect any materia l  impact as  a  result of adop*ng the standards  and amendments  l i s ted above in the financial

year they become effective.

 

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial  s tatements  comprise the financial  s tatements  of the Company and al l  of i ts  subs idiary undertakings  made up

to the financial  year-end. Subs idiaries  are en**es that are control led by the Group. The Company controls  an investee i f a l l  three



to the financial  year-end. Subs idiaries  are en**es that are control led by the Group. The Company controls  an investee i f a l l  three

of the fol lowing elements  are present: power over the investee, exposure to variable returns  from the investee, and the abi l i ty of

the investor to use i ts  power to affect those variable returns. Control  i s  reassessed whenever facts  and ci rcumstances  indicate

that there may be a change in any of these elements  of control . The financial  s tatements  of subs idiaries  are included in the

consol idated financial  s tatements  from the date that control  commences  unti l  the date that control  ceases.

 

The results  of subs idiary undertakings  acquired or disposed of in the year are included in the Group statement of comprehensive

income from the effec*ve date of acquis i*on or to the effec*ve date of disposal . Accoun*ng pol icies  are cons istently appl ied

throughout the Group. I nter-company balances  and transac*ons have been el iminated. Materia l  profits  from inter-company

sales , to the extent that they are not yet real ised outs ide the Group, have also been el iminated.

 

Where the Group has  the power to participate in (but not control ) the financial  and operating pol icy decis ions  of another enti ty, i t

i s  class ified as  an associate. I nvestments  in associates  are accounted for us ing the equity method of accoun*ng a&er ini*al ly

being recognised at cost.

 

Under the equity method of accoun*ng, the Group's  investments  in associates  are ini*al ly recognised at cost and adjusted

therea&er to recognise the Group's  share of post-acquis i*on profits  and losses  and other comprehensive income in the

consol idated statement of profi t and loss  and other comprehensive income.  Dividends received or receivable from associates  are

recognised as  a  reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

 

W hen the Group's  share of losses  in an equity-accounted investment equals  or exceeds i ts  interest in the en*ty, including any

other unsecured long-term receivables , the Group does  not recognise further losses  unless  i t has  incurred obl iga*ons or made

payments  on behalf of the other enti ty.

 

Unreal ised gains  on transac*ons between the Group and i ts  associates  are el iminated to the extent of the Group's  interest in

these en**es. Unreal ised losses  are a lso el iminated unless  the transac*on provides  evidence of an impairment of the asset

transferred. Accoun*ng pol icies  of equity accounted investees  have been changed where necessary to ensure cons istency with the

pol icies  adopted by the Group.

 

Foreign currency translation

The individual  financial  s tatements  of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment

in which i t operates  (i ts  functional  currency).

 

I n preparing the financial  s tatements  of the individual  companies , transac*ons in currencies  other than the en*ty's  func*onal

currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates  of exchange prevai l ing on the dates  of the transactions.

 

At each repor*ng date, monetary assets  and l iabi l i*es  that are denominated in foreign currencies  are retrans lated at the rates

prevai l ing at that date. Non-monetary i tems that are measured in terms of historical  cost in a  foreign currency are not

retrans lated.

 

O n consol ida*on, the results  of overseas  opera*ons are trans lated into Sterl ing at rates  approxima*ng to those rul ing when the

transac*ons took place. Al l  assets  and l iabi l i*es  of overseas  opera*ons, including goodwi l l  aris ing on the acquis i*on of those

operations, are trans lated at the rate rul ing at the reporting date.

 

Exchange differences  aris ing on trans la*ng the opening net assets  at opening rate and the results  of overseas  opera*ons at

actual  rate are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign exchange reserve.

 

Exchange differences  aris ing on the seHlement of monetary i tems, and on the retrans la*on of monetary i tems, are charged to the

consol idated statement of comprehensive income.

 

Business combinations

I n accordance with I F RS 3 "Bus iness  Combina*ons", the fa ir value of cons idera*on paid for a  bus iness  combina*on is  measured

as  the aggregate of the fa ir values  at the date of exchange of assets  given and l iabi l i*es  incurred or assumed in exchange for

control .

The assets , l iabi l i*es  and con*ngent l iabi l i*es  of the acquired en*ty are measured at fa i r value as  at the acquis i*on date. W hen

the ini*al  accoun*ng for a  bus iness  combina*on is  determined, i t i s  done so on a provis ional  bas is  with any adjustments  to

these provis ional  values  made within 12 months  of the acquis i tion date and are effective as  at the acquis i tion date.

 

To the extent that deferred cons idera*on is  payable as  part of the acquis i*on cost and is  payable a&er one year from the

acquis i*on date, the deferred cons idera*on is  discounted at an appropriate interest rate and, accordingly, carried at net present



acquis i*on date, the deferred cons idera*on is  discounted at an appropriate interest rate and, accordingly, carried at net present

value in the consol idated balance sheet. The discount component is  then unwound as  an interest charge in the consol idated

statement of comprehensive income over the l i fe of

the obl igation.

 

W here a bus iness  combina*on agreement provides  for an adjustment to the cost of a  bus iness  acquired con*ngent on future

events , the Group accrues  the fa ir value of the addi*onal  cons idera*on payable as  a  l iabi l i ty at acquis i*on date. This  amount is

reassessed at each subsequent repor*ng date with any adjustments  recognised in the consol idated statement of comprehensive

income.

 

Transac*on costs  are expensed to the statement of comprehensive income as  incurred. Acquis i*on-related employment costs  are

accrued over the period in which the related services  are received and are recorded as  exceptional  costs .

 

 

Revenue

Revenue represents  the amounts  derived from the provis ion of services , s tated net of Value Added Tax. The methodology appl ied

to income recognition is  dependent upon the services  being suppl ied.

 

I n respect of income rela*ng to annual  or mul*-year service contracts  and/or hosted services  which are invoiced in advance, i t i s

the Group's  pol icy to recognise revenue on a straight-l ine bas is  over the period of the contract. This  i s  cons idered a fa i thful

depic*on of the transfer of services  to the customer because they are provided access  to the Group's  so&ware for the dura*on of

the contract period. The ful l  value of each sale is  credited to contract l iabi l i*es  when invoiced to be released to the statement of

comprehensive income in equal  instalments  over the contract period.

 

During the course of a  customer's  rela*onship with the Group, their system may be upgraded. These upgrades  can be separated

into two distinct types:

·    Specific upgrades, i .e. moving from an old legacy system to one of the Group's  latest products . This  would require the

migration of the customer's  data from the old system and the set-up of their new system; and

·    Non-specific upgrades, i .e. enhancements  to customers ' systems as  a  result of internal  development effort to improve the

stabi l i ty or functional i ty of the platform for a l l  customers.

 

Customers  do not have a contractual  right to non-specific upgrades  and therefore, the provis ion of these non-specific upgrades

are accounted for as  part of the related service contract as  explained above.

For specific upgrades, customers  are required to purchase these separately through s igning a  new contract which sets  out the

one-off profess ional  service fee for the upgrade to cover migra*on costs  and any increase in their annual  subscrip*on fee. The

provis ion of this  speci fic upgrade is  therefore, accounted for as  a  separate service contract as  explained above.

 

The Group does  not have any further obl igations  that i t would have to provide for under the subscription arrangements .

 

I n respect of income derived from the provis ion of research and ins ights  projects , which are based on fixed price contracts  with

specified performance obl iga*ons and for which customers  are invoiced based on a payment schedule over the term of the

contract, i t i s  the Group's  pol icy to recognise revenue to reflect the benefit received by the customer. The propor*on of revenue

recognised is  based on the output method us ing mi lestones  completed, such as  the del ivery of ins ight reports  to a  customer.

 

The Group does  not have any further obl iga*ons that i t would have to provide for under i ts  arrangements  for provis ion of

research and ins ights  projects .

 

Cost of sales

Cost of sales  comprises  third party costs  directly related to the provis ion of services  to customers.

 

Non-IFRS Key performance indicators

The Group uses  EB I TDA and Adjusted EB I TDA as  the Directors  bel ieve the disclosure provides  addi*onal  informa*on on the core

operational  performance of the Group.

 

Leases

Al l  leases  are cons idered under I F RS 16. A right of use asset and lease l iabi l i ty are recognised in the Consol idated Statement of

Financial  Pos i*on. The right of use asset i s  amor*sed on a straight-l ine bas is  to the consol idated statement of comprehensive

income. Lease l iabi l i*es  increase as  a  result of interest charged at a  constant rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced

for lease payments  made. The interest expense is  recognised in the consol idated statement of comprehensive income. W here

leases  are modified the right of use asset and lease l iabi l i ty are remeasured at the date of modifica*on to account for the



modification.

 

Finance income and finance expenses

Finance income and finance expenses  are recognised in profit or loss  as  they accrue, us ing the effec*ve interest method. F inance

income relates  to interest income on the Group's  bank account balances.

 

Interest payable comprises  interest payable or finance charges  on loans  class i fied as  l iabi l i ties .

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions  are recognised as  transactions  with owners  on payment when l iabi l i ty to pay is  establ ished.

 

Intangible assets - Goodwill

Goodwi l l  represents  amounts  aris ing on acquis i*on of subs idiaries . Goodwi l l  represents  the difference between the cost of the

acquis i*on and the fa ir value of the net iden*fiable assets  and con*ngent l iabi l i*es  acquired. I den*fiable intangible assets  are

those which can be sold separately or which arise from legal  rights  regardless  of whether those rights  are separable.

 

Goodwi l l  on acquis i*on of subs idiaries  i s  included in intangible assets . Goodwi l l  i s  a l located to cash genera*ng units  and is  not

amortised, but is  tested annual ly for impairment.

 

I f the fa ir value of the net assets  acquired is  in excess  of the aggregate cons idera*on transferred, the Group re-assesses  whether

i t has  correctly iden*fied al l  of the assets  acquired and al l  of the l iabi l i*es  assumed and reviews the procedures  used to

measure the amounts  to be recognised at the acquis i*on date. I f the reassessment s*l l  results  in an excess  of the fa ir value of net

assets  acquired over the aggregate cons ideration transferred, then the gain is  recognised in profi t or loss .

 

Intangible assets - research and development expenditure

Research costs  are expensed as  incurred. Development expenditures  on an individual  project are recognised as

an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate:

·    the technical  feas ibi l i ty of completing the intangible asset so that the asset wi l l  be avai lable for use or sale;

·    i ts  intention to complete and i ts  abi l i ty and intention to use or sel l  the asset;

·    how the asset wi l l  generate future economic benefi ts ;

·    the avai labi l i ty of resources  to complete the asset; and

·    the abi l i ty to measure rel iably the expenditure during development.

 

Fol lowing ini*al  recogni*on of the development expenditure as  an asset, the asset i s  carried at cost less  any accumulated

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses .

 

Amor*sa*on of the asset begins  from the date development is  complete and the asset i s  avai lable for use, which may be before

first sale. I t i s  amor*sed over the period of expected future benefit. Amor*sa*on is  charged to the consol idated statement of

comprehensive income. During the period of development, the asset i s  tested for impairment annual ly.

 

I n 2024 there were Twenty-eight (2023: Twenty-three) capital ised development projects . The projects  undertaken in the current

and prior year relate to the development of new func*onal i ty within the Vuel io and P ulsar plaOorms. The directors  assessed the

capital isa*on cri teria  of i ts  internal ly generated materia l  intangible assets  through a review of the output of the work performed,

the specific costs  proposed for capital isa*on, the l ikely comple*on of the work and the l ikely future benefits  to be generated from

the work.

 

The directors  assess  the useful  l i fe of the completed capital ised development projects  to be five years  from the date of the first

sale or when benefi ts  begin to be real ised and amortisation wi l l  begin at that time.

 

Intangible assets - database

O n acquis i*on of bus inesses  in prior years , a  fa i r value was calculated in respect of the P R and media contacts  databases

acquired. Subsequent expenditure on maintaining this  database is  expensed as  incurred. Amor*sa*on is  calculated on a

straight-l ine bas is  over the es*mated useful  economic l i fe of the database. I t i s  the directors ' view that this  useful  economic l i fe

is  three years  based on the level  of ongoing investment required to maintain the qual i ty of data in the database.

 

Intangible assets - customer relationships

O n acquis i*on of bus inesses  in the current and prior years , a  fa i r value was calculated in respect of the customer rela*onships

acquired. Amor*sa*on is  calculated on a straight-l ine bas is  over the es*mated useful  economic l i fe of the customer

rela*onships . I t i s  the directors ' view that this  useful  economic l i fe i s  up to 14 years , based on known and forecast customer

retention rates .

 



 

Intangible assets - brand value

Acquired brands, which are control led through custody or legal  rights  and could be sold separately from the rest of the Group's

bus inesses , are capital ised where fa ir value can be rel iably measured. The Group appl ies  a  straight-l ine amor*sa*on pol icy on

al l  brand values.

 

The conclus ion is  that a  real is*c l i fe for the brand equity would be up to a  'genera*on' or 20 years . W here there is  an indica*on

of impairment, the directors  wi l l  perform an impairment review by analys ing the future discounted cash flows over the remaining

l i fe of the brand asset to determine whether impairment is  required.

 

Software licences

So&ware l icences  include so&ware that i s  not integral  to a  related i tem of hardware. These i tems are stated at cost less

accumulated amor*sa*on and any impairment. Amor*sa*on is  calculated on a straight-l ine bas is  over the es*mated useful

economic l i fe.

 

Although perpetual  l icences  are maintained under support and maintenance agreements , a  useful  economic l i fe of five years  has

been determined.

 

Impairment of non-financial assets

An impairment loss  i s  recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or i ts  cash-genera*ng unit exceeds i ts  recoverable

amount. Impairment losses  are recognised in the profi t or loss  within non-recurring admin expenses.

 

I mpairment losses  recognised in respect of cash-genera*ng units  are a l located first to the carrying amount of the goodwi l l

a l located to that cash-genera*ng unit and then to the carrying amount of the other assets  in the unit on a pro rata bas is , appl ied

in priori ty to non-current assets  ahead of more l iquid i tems. A cash-genera*ng unit i s  the smal lest iden*fiable group of assets

that generates  cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets  or groups of assets .

 

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Financial  assets  are measured at amor*sed cost, fa i r value through other comprehensive income (F VTO C I ) or fa i r value through

profit or loss  (F VTP L). The measurement bas is  i s  determined by reference to both the bus iness  model  for managing the financial

asset and the contractual  cash flow characteris*cs  of the financial  asset. The Group's  financial  assets  comprise of trade and

other receivables  and cash and cash equivalents .

 

Trade receivables

Trade receivables  are measured at amor*sed cost and are carried at the original  invoice amount less  a l lowances  for expected

credit losses .

 

Expected credit losses  are calculated in accordance with the s impl ified approach permiHed by I F RS 9, us ing a  provis ion matrix

applying l i fetime historical  credit loss  experience to the trade receivables .

 

Expected credit losses  are calculated in accordance with the s impl ified approach permiHed by I F RS 9, us ing a  provis ion matrix

applying l i fe*me historical  credit loss  experience to the trade receivables . The expected credit loss  rate varies  depending on

whether, and the extent to which, seHlement of the trade receivables  is  overdue and i t i s  a lso adjusted as  appropriate to reflect

current economic condi*ons and es*mates  of future condi*ons. For the purpose of determining credit loss  rates , customers  are

class ified into groupings  that have s imi lar loss  paHerns. The key drivers  of the loss  rate are the aging of the debtor, the

geographic loca*on and the Company sector (publ ic vs  private). W hen a trade receivable is  determined to have no reasonable

expecta*on of recovery i t i s  wriHen off, firstly against any expected credit loss  a l lowance avai lable and then to the statement of

comprehensive income.

 

Subsequent recoveries  of amounts  previous ly provided for or wriHen off are credited to the statement of comprehensive income.

Long-term receivables  are discounted where the effect i s  materia l .

 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash held in deposit accounts  is  measured at amortised cost.

 

Financial liabilities

The Group's  financial  l iabi l i*es  cons ist of trade payables , loans  and borrowings, and other financial  l iabi l i*es. Trade payables

are non-interest bearing. Trade payables  ini*al ly recognised at their fa i r value and subsequently measured at amor*sed cost.

Loans  and borrowings  and other financial  l iabi l i*es , are ini*al ly measured at fa i r value, net of transac*on costs , and are



Loans  and borrowings  and other financial  l iabi l i*es , are ini*al ly measured at fa i r value, net of transac*on costs , and are

subsequently measured at amor*sed cost us ing the effec*ve interest rate method. I nterest expense is  measured on an effec*ve

interest rate bas is  and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the relevant period.

 

Provisions

P rovis ions  are recognised when there is  a  present obl iga*on (legal  or construc*ve) as  a  result of a  past event, i t i s  probable that

the obl iga*on wi l l  be required to be seHled, and a rel iable es*mate can be made of the amount of the obl iga*on. The amount

recognised as  a  provis ion is  the best es*mate of the cons idera*on required to seHle the present obl iga*on at the end of the

repor*ng period, taking into account the risks  and uncertain*es  surrounding the obl iga*on. P rovis ions  are discounted when the

time value of money is  materia l .

 

Deferred income

The Group's  customer contracts  include a diverse range of payment schedules  dependent upon the nature and type of services

being provided. The Group o&en agrees  payment schedules  at the incep*on of long-term contracts  under which i t receives

payments  throughout the term of contracts . These payment schedules  may include progress  payments  as  wel l  as  regular monthly

or quarterly payments  for ongoing service del ivery. Payments  for transac*onal  services  may be at del ivery date, in arrears  or in

advance.

 

A contract l iabi l i ty i s  the obl iga*on to transfer goods or services  to a  customer for which the Group has  received cons idera*on

(or an amount of cons idera*on is  due) from the customer. I f a  customer pays  cons idera*on before the Group transfers  goods or

services  to the customer, a  contract l iabi l i ty i s  recognised when the payment is  made or the payment is  due (whichever is  earl ier).

Contract l iabi l i*es  are recognised as  revenue when the Group performs under the contract. The aggregate amount is  disclosed in

Note 16.

 

 

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises  current and deferred tax. Tax is  recognised in the consol idated statement of

comprehensive income except to the extent that i t relates  to i tems recognised directly in equity, in which case i t i s  recognised in

equity.

 

Current tax is  the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, us ing tax rates  enacted or substan*vely enacted at the

reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous  years .

 

Deferred tax is  provided on temporary differences  between the carrying amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i*es  for financial  repor*ng

purposes  and the amounts  used for taxa*on purposes. The fol lowing temporary differences  are not provided for: the ini*al

recogni*on of goodwi l l ; the ini*al  recogni*on of assets  or l iabi l i*es  that affect neither accoun*ng nor taxable profit other than

in a  bus iness  combina*on, and differences  rela*ng to investments  in subs idiaries  to the extent that they wi l l  probably not

reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is  based on the expected manner of real isa*on or

settlement of the carrying amount of assets  and l iabi l i ties , us ing tax rates  enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

 

The recogni*on of deferred tax assets  i s  based upon whether i t i s  more l ikely than not that sufficient and suitable taxable profits

wi l l  be avai lable in the future, against which the reversal  of temporary differences  can be deducted. Recogni*on, therefore,

involves  judgement regarding the future financial  performance of the par*cular legal  en*ty or tax group in which the deferred tax

asset has  been recognised. Historical  differences  between forecast and actual  taxable profits  have not resulted in materia l

adjustments  to the recognition of deferred tax assets .

 

Research and development tax credit

Companies  within the Group may be en*tled to cla im special  tax a l lowances  in rela*on to qual i fying research and development

(R&D) expenditure (e.g. R&D tax credits ). The Group accounts  for such al lowances  as  tax credits , which means that they are

recognised when i t i s  probable that the benefit wi l l  flow to the Group and that benefit can be rel iably measured. They are cla imed

through the research and development expenditure credit (R D EC) tax credit scheme and recognised in the financial  s tatements

through non-recurring administra*ve expenses  on the income statement and Trade and other receivables  on the balance sheet,

unti l  the cash is  received.

 

Share-based payments

The Group issues  equity-seHled share-based payments  to certain employees. These equity-seHled share-based payments  are

measured at fa i r-value at the date of the grant. The fa ir value as  determined at the grant date is  expensed on a straight-l ine bas is

over the ves*ng period, based on the Group's  es*mate of shares  that wi l l  eventual ly vest. Fair value is  measured by use of the

Monte Carlo method. The charges  to profi t or loss  are recognised in the subs idiary employing the individual  concerned.

 

Employee benefits



Employee benefits

I ndividual  subs idiaries  of the Group operate defined contribu*on pension schemes for their employees. The assets  of the

schemes are not managed by the Group and are held separately from those of the Group. The annual  contribu*ons payable are

charged to the statement of comprehensive income when they fa l l  due for payment.

 

3. Revenue

 

The Group's  revenue is  primari ly derived from the rendering of services . The Group's  revenue was generated from the fol lowing

terri tories :
2024

£'000
2023

£'000
 

United Kingdom 22,253 22,353
North America 3,360 2,875
Europe excluding UK 3,300 2,129
Austral ia  and New Zealand 25,379 26,530
Asia 7,451 8,010
Rest of the world 254 505
TOTAL 61,997 62,402  

 

 

4. Segment reporting

 

Segment informa*on is  presented in respect of the Group's  opera*ng segments  which are based upon the Group's  management

and internal  bus iness  repor*ng. Segment results , assets  and l iabi l i*es  include i tems directly aHributable to a  segment as  wel l  as

those that can be al located on a reasonable bas is . Unal located i tems comprise mainly head office expenses.

 

No s ingle customer generates  more than 10% of the Group's  revenue. The Group opera*ng segments  have been decided upon

according to the geographic markets  in which they operate being the informa*on provided to the Chief Execu*ve O fficer and the

Board, given both regions  provide the same products  and services

 

EMEA & NA covers  the United Kingdom, Europe and North America. APAC covers  Austral ia , New Zealand and Southeast As ia.

 

The segment information for the year ended 30 November 2024, i s  as  fol lows:

 

EMEA & NA APAC Total

2024 £'000 £'000 £'000

External revenue 29,250 32,747 61,997

Adjusted EBITDA 2,456 6,823 9,279

Non-recurring costs (1,806) (6,755) (8,561)

Share of loss  of associate (128) - (128)

Gain on sale of associate 1,457 - 1,457

Share-based payments (484) (96) (580)

Depreciation and amortisation (3,177) (4,394) (7,571)

Financial  income 10 8 18

Financial  expense 489 (1,073) (584)

Taxation 128 (31) 97

Loss After Tax (1,055) (5,518) (6,573)

Reportable segment assets 28,843 59,558 88,401

Reportable segment l iabi l i ties 26,086 19,631 45,717

Other information: Additions  to intangible assets 4,350 2,227 6,577

O ther informa*on: Addi*ons to property, plant and
equipment

135 94 229

 

 

The segment information for the year ended 30 November 2023, i s  as  fol lows:

EMEA & NA APAC Total
2023 £'000 £'000 £'000
External revenue 28,193 34,209 62,402
Adjusted EBITDA 471 6,792 7,263
Non-recurring costs (2,692) (6,296) (8,988)
Share of loss  of associate (198) - (198)
Share-based payments (764) (151) (915)
Depreciation and amortisation (3,916) (3,838) (7,754)



Depreciation and amortisation (3,916) (3,838) (7,754)
Financial  income 10 2 12
Financial  expense 784 (1,037) (253)
Taxation 238 2,693 2,931
Loss After Tax (6,067) (1,835) (7,902)
Reportable segment assets 46,032 44,657 90,689
Reportable segment l iabi l i ties 22,634 18,369 41,003
Other information: Additions  to intangible assets 5,309 3,266 8,575
O ther informa*on: Addi*ons to property, plant and
equipment

76 433 509

Other information: Investment in associate - equity method 264 - 264

 

 

5. Operating loss

 
Operating loss  i s  s tated after charging: 2024 2023
 £'000 £'000
Employee benefi t expenses  before capital ised costs 28,971 34,344
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 308 524
Depreciation charge 1,370 1,526
Amortisation of development costs 4,122 3,573
Amortisation of acquired software platforms 682 1,013
Amortisation of brand values 208 212
Amortisation of software l icences 64 66
Amortisation of customer l i s t 816 840
Loss  on disposal  of property, plant and equipment - 20
Loss  on foreign currency trans lation 89 89
Non-recurring i tems (see below) 8,561 8,988
Auditor's  remuneration (see below) 626 589
Research and development and other technical 5,348 646
expenditure (a  further £6,577,000 (2023: £8,498,000) was  capital ised)
Increase in expected credit loss  provis ion 279 120
 
Non-recurring items
The non-recurring costs  are made up of the fol lowing:

  

Non-recurring salary costs  - integration and restructuring 6,101 7,231
Non-recurring dupl icated technology costs 2,050 1,888
Non-recurring copyright related expense - 528
Non-recurring expense - other 410 321
Non-recurring income - bus iness  rates  overprovis ion - (980)
TOTAL 8,561 8,988
 
 
Auditor's  remuneration is  further analysed as :

  

  
Fees  payable to the Company's  auditor for the audit of the Company's  annual  accounts 278 241
The audit of the Company's  subs idiaries , pursuant to legis lation 348 348
TOTAL 626 589

 

 

6. Particulars of employees

 

The average number of persons  (including directors) employed by the Group during the year was:
 2024 2023  
Technical  and support 145 168  
Commercial 719 777  
Finance and administration 68 83  
 932 1,028  

 

Costs  incurred in respect of these employees  were:

 
 2024

£'000
2023

£'000  
Wages and salaries  costs 23,584 27,994  
Social  securi ty costs 1,492 1,656  
Pension costs 1,717 1,978  
Health insurance 224 219  
Employee benefi ts 1,875 1,575  
Compensation for loss  of office 281 926  
 29,173 34,348  
 

The compensa*on for loss  of office charge of £281,000 (2023: £926,000) relates  to 70 employees  (2023: 66) who were made

redundant during the year.

 



 

The reportable key management personnel  are cons idered to be comprised of the Company directors , the remunera*on for whose

services  during the year is  detai led below.

 
 
Directors' remuneration

Salaries
£

Fees
£

2024
£

2023
£  

Executive Directors
J Arnold 391,667 - 391,667 400,000
M Fautley 229,167 - 229,167 250,000
Non-Executive Directors
C Satterthwaite 70,000 - 70,000 80,000
C Pi l l ing 35,000 - 35,000 40,000
K Puris - - - 16,667
L Gi lbert - 27,500 27,500 40,000
S Vawda 48,125 - 48,125 50,625
M Royde - 13,333 13,333 -
TOTAL 773,959 40,833 814,792 877,292  
 

 

L Gi lbert res igned on the 29 August 2024. J Arnold received payments  into a  personal  re*rement money purchase pens ion scheme

during the year of £40,000 (2023: £40,000).

 

M Fautley received health insurance benefi ts  during the year of £1,345 (2023: £992). M Fautley received payments  into a  personal

re*rement money purchase pens ion scheme during the year of £Ni l  (2023: £18,750) and pension al lowance of £21,961 (2023:

£5,490). No other directors  received any other benefi ts  other than those detai led above.

 

The directors  who have served during the year and detai ls  of their interests , including fami ly interests , in the Company's  ordinary

5p shares  at 30 November 2024 are disclosed below:

 

30 Nov 24
Beneficial No.

Share options
granted

30 Nov 24
Options No.

30 Nov 23
Beneficia l

No.
Share options

granted
30 Nov 23

Options  No.
J Arnold 754,281 1,857,106 3,457,106 754,281 - 1,600,000
C Satterthwaite 94,596 - 39,603 94,596 - 39,603
M Fautley 79,811 1,160,691 1,560,691 79,811 - 400,000
C Pi l l ing 50,000 - 19,801 50,000 - 19,801
M Royde - - - - - -
L Gi lbert - - - - - 19,801
S Vawda* 16,666 - 19,801 16,666 - 19,801
TOTAL 995,354 3,017,797 5,097,002 995,354 - 2,099,006
*Shares held by Vawda Associates, a company wholly owned by S Vawda.

 

 
7. Financial expense

2024
£'000

2023
£'000

Interest charge in respect of lease l iabi l i ties 198 229
Interest on bank loans 344
Other interest 42 24
Total financial expense 584 253
 

 
8. Taxation 2024

£'000
2023

£'000  
Current income tax
UK corporation tax credit for the year 90 92
Adjustment in respect of prior year (136) 5
Double Taxation Rel ief (90) (92)
Foreign taxation 160 150
Adjustment in respect of prior periods  (foreign tax) 26 22
Total  current income tax credit 50 177  
Deferred tax (Note 21)
Origination and reversal  of temporary di fferences 592 (3,110)
Adjustments  in respect of prior periods (739) 2
Total deferred tax (147) (3,108)  
Total tax credit (97) (2,931)  
 

As shown below the tax assessed on the loss  on ordinary ac*vi*es  for the year is  lower than (2023: lower than) the standard rate

of corporation tax in the UK of 25% (2023: 23%).

 
The di fferences  are explained as  fol lows: 2024 2023  



The di fferences  are explained as  fol lows: 2024 2023  
Factors affecting tax credit £'000 £'000  
Loss  on ordinary activi ties  before tax (6,670) (10,833)
Loss  on ordinary activi ties  multipl ied by effective rate of tax (1,934) (2,492)
Items not deductible for tax purposes (10) 767
Adjustment in respect of prior years (875) (1,086)
Additional  R&D cla im CTA 2009 (271) (149)
Deferred tax not recognised 2,993 29
Total tax credit (97) (2,931)  

Factors  that may affect future tax expenses: The corporation tax rate of 25% remains  the same from 1 Apri l  2024.

 

9. Earnings per share

 

I n 2024 and 2023 poten*al  ordinary shares  from the share op*on schemes have an an*-di lu*ve effect due to the Group being in

a loss  making pos i*on. As  a  result, di lu*ve loss  per share is  disclosed as  the same value as  bas ic loss  per share. This  has  been

computed as  fol lows:

 
Numerator 2024

£'000
2023

£'000
Loss  for the year and earnings  used in bas ic EPS (7,582) (11,603)
Earnings  used in di luted EPS (7,582) (11,603)
Denominator
Weighted average number of shares  used in bas ic EPS ('000) 127,699 127,699
 
Effects of:
Di lutive effect of options N/A N/A
Di lutive effect of loan note convers ion N/A N/A
Weighted average number of shares  used in di luted EPS ('000) 127,699 127,699
Basic loss per share (pence) (5.94) (9.09)
Diluted loss per share for the year (pence) (5.94) (9.09)
 

The total  number of op*ons or warrants  granted at 30 November 2024 of 13,815,746 (2023: 6,893,987), would generate

£3,436,353 (2023: £3,757,862) in cash i f exercised. At 30 November 2024, 1,644,084 op*ons (2023: 1,806,045) were priced above

the mid-market clos ing price of 59p per share (2023: 57p per share) and 12,171,662  (2023: 5,087,942 ) were below. O f the

op*ons and warrants  at 30 November 2024, 12,425,265 (2023: 3,578,654) staff op*ons and 1,390,481 (2023: 1,390,481)

warrants  were el igible for exercis ing. The warrants  are priced at 27.5p per share held by Elderstreet VC T plc and other individuals

consequent to an ini tia l  investment in the Company in October 2008. 

10. Intangible fixed assets

 

Brand
value Goodwill

Development
costs and
acquired
software

Software
Licenses Database

Customer
relationships Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost
At 30 November 2022 2,979 39,216 26,964 569 1,290 12,447 83,465
Capital ised during the year - - 8,498 77 - - 8,575
Foreign exchange movement (55) (2,122) (712) (9) - (724) (3,622)
At 30 November 2023 2,924 37,094 34,750 637 1,290 11,723 88,418
Capital ised during the year - - 6,577 - - - 6,577
Foreign exchange movement (15) (546) (270) 26 - (194) (999)
At 30 November 2024 2,909 36,548 41,057 663 1,290 11,529 93,996
 
Amortisation and impairment
At 30 November 2022 1,175  8,996 459 1,290 2,276 14,196
Charge for the year 212 - 4,586 66 - 840 5,704
Foreign exchange movement (13) - 13 (10) - (93) (103)
At 30 November 2023 1,374 - 13,595 515 1,290 3,023 19,797
Charge for the year 208 - 4,804 64 - 816 5,892
Foreign exchange movement (6) - (68) 25 - (50) (99)
At 30 November 2024 1,576 - 18,331 604 1,290 3,789 25,590
 
Net Book Value
At 30 November 2024 1,333 36,548 22,726 59 - 7,740 68,406
At 30 November 2023 1,550 37,094 21,156 121 - 8,700 68,621
 

Brand value, Goodwi l l , Database, Customer relationships  and acquired software platforms are acquis i tion related intangibles . Of



Brand value, Goodwi l l , Database, Customer relationships  and acquired software platforms are acquis i tion related intangibles . Of

the £4,804,000 (2023: £4,586,000) amor*sa*on charge on Development costs  and acquired so&ware plaOorms, £683,000 (2023:

£1,013,000) relates  to acquired so&ware plaOorms, bringing the total  amor*sa*on on acquis i*on related intangibles  to

£1,707,000 (2023: £2,065,000). Amortisation on internal ly generated intangibles  totals  £4,186,000 (2023: 3,639,000).

 

The carrying value of individual ly materia l  intangible assets  are as  fol lows:
Carrying amount

Brand
2024

£'000
2023

£'000
Access  Intel l igence Media and Communications 360 420
ResponseSource 213 228
Pulsar 358 383
Isentia 411 520
 
Development costs and acquired software platforms
AIMediaData - Vuel io Platform Development 5,419 4,976
ResponseSource - Platform Development - -
Pulsar - Platform Development 6,278 5,415
Isentia  - Platform Development 10,455 10,765
 
Customer relationships
ResponseSource - Acquired Customer Relationships 365 490
Isentia  - Acquired Customer Relationships 7,523 8,210
For the purposes  of impairment tes*ng, goodwi l l  i s  a l located to the Group's  CGUs which are the lowest level  within the Group at

which goodwi l l  i s  monitored.

 

The carrying value of goodwi l l  a l located to CGUs within the Group is :
2024 2023

Goodwill £'000 £'000
EMEA & NA 7,740 7,740
APAC 28,808 29,354
 

At the repor*ng date, impairment tests  were undertaken by comparing the carrying values  of CGUs with their recoverable

amounts . The recoverable amounts  of the CGUs are based on value-in-use calcula*ons. These calcula*ons use pre-tax cash flow

projec*ons covering a  five-year period based on approved budgets  and forecasts  in the first three years , fol lowed by applying

specific growth rates  for which the key assump*ons in respect of annual  revenue growth rates  of 5.0% in years  4 to 5 and 3.0%

thereafter.

 

The key assump*ons used for value-in-use calcula*ons are those regarding revenue growth rates  and discount rates  over the

forecast period. Growth rates  are based on past experience, the an*cipated impact of the CGUs s ignificant investment in research

and development, and expectations  of future changes  in the market.

 

The pre-tax discount rates  used for both the EM EA & NA and APAC CGUs was 14%, based on an assessment of the Group's  cost of

capital  and on comparison with other l i s ted technology companies .

 

The terminal  growth rate used for the purposes  of goodwi l l  impairment assessments  was  2.0%. The Board cons idered that no

impairment to goodwi l l  i s  necessary based on the value-in-use reviews of EM EA & NA or APAC as  the value-in-use calcula*ons

exceeded the carrying values  of goodwi l l  relating to those companies .

 

Sens i*vity analys is  has  been performed on reasonably poss ible changes  in assump*ons upon which recoverable amounts  have

been es*mated. Based on the sens i*vity analys is , a  reduc*on of 44.5% in EB I TDA del ivered by EM EA & NA would result in the

carrying value of i ts  CGU being equal  to the recoverable amount. For APAC, a  21.5% reduc*on in EB I TDA would result in the

carrying value of i ts  CGU being equal  to the recoverable amount.

 

For EM EA & NA, a  18.6% percentage point increase in the discount rate would result in the carrying value of i ts  CGU being equal  to

the recoverable amount. For APAC, a  2.9% percentage point increase in the discount rate would result in the carrying value of i ts

CGU being equal  to the recoverable amount.

 

Other impairments

 

O ther intangible assets  are tested for impairment i f indicators  of an impairment exist. Such indicators  include performance

fal l ing short of expectation.

 

The directors  cons idered that there were no indicators  of impairment relating to the intangible fixed assets  at 30 November 2024.

 



 

11. Investment in associate

 2024
£'000

2023
£'000

Cost   
At 1 December 1,872 1,872
Additions 75 -
Disposals (1,872) -
At 30 November 75 1,872
Share of loss  of associate and impairment   
At 1 December 1,608 1,410
Share of loss  of associate 128 198
Disposal (1,736) -
At 30 November - 1,608
Net Book Value   
At 1 December 264 462
At 30 November 75 264

During the year ended 30 November 2024, 20.3% of the shares  in TrackRecord holdings  Limited were sold by the group for

£1,419,000, leaving 1.1% at a  carrying value of £75,000. The loan balance of £100,000 remains  outstanding and has  been

reclass i fied as  an Other receivable.

 

At the date of disposal  the carrying amount of the investment was  £137,000, which means the profit on disposal  i s  £1,457,000.

During the year prior to the sale, the Group's  share of the loss  of TrackRecord Holdings  Limited was £128,000 (2023: £198,000).

As  the Group appl ies  the equity method of accoun*ng for i ts  investment in TrackRecord Holdings  Limited, the carrying value of

investments  in associates  is  reduced by this  share of loss  at the disposal  date.

 

The shareholding in TrackRecord Holdings  Limited is  treated as  an investment as  the Group is  not able to exercise control  over the

Company due to only having a  1.1% shareholding (2023: 21.4%).

12. Property, plant and equipment

Fixtures, fitting and equipment Leasehold improvements
 

Total
£'000 £'000 £'000

Cost    
At 30 November 2022 1,443 762 2,205
Additions 186 323 509
Disposals - (628) (628)
Foreign exchange movement (22) (82) (104)
At 30 November 2023 1,607 375 1,982
Additions 83 146 229
Disposals (94) (90) (184)
Foreign exchange movement (50) (25) (75)
At 30 November 2024 1,546 406 1,952
 
Depreciation and impairment
At 30 November 2022 767 577 1,344
Charge for the year 363 161 524
Disposals - (608) (608)
Foreign exchange movement (1) (70) (71)
At 30 November 2023 1,129 60 1,189
Charge for the year 223 85 308
Disposals (91) (85) (176)
Foreign exchange movement (34) (18) (52)
At 30 November 2024 1,227 42 1,269
 
Net Book Value
At 30 November 2023 319 364 683
At 30 November 2023 478 315 793
 
 
13. Trade and other receivables

 
2024

£'000

 
2023

£'000
Current assets
Trade receivables 5,003 5,318
Less: provis ion for impairment of trade receivables (172) (265)
Trade receivables  - net 4,831 5,053
Prepayments 1,862 2,256
Commiss ion prepayments 1,994 1,700
Other receivables 553 756



Other receivables 553 756
9,240 9,765

 

Al l  trade receivables  are reviewed by management and are cons idered col lectable. The ageing of trade receivables  which are past

due and not impaired is  as  fol lows:

 

 
 
 

2024
£'000

2023
£'000

Days  outstanding
31-60 days 306 868
61-90 days 24 409
91-180 days 158 564

488 1,841
Movements  on the Group provis ion for impairment of trade receivables  are as  fol lows:

2024
£'000

2023
£'000

At 1 December 265 304
Increase in provis ion 279 120
Write-offs  in year (372) (159)
At 30 November 172 265
 

As  in the prior year, the Group appl ies  the I F RS 9 s impl ified approach to measuring expected credit losses  us ing a  l i fe*me

expected credit loss  provis ion to reflect the risk of default on trade receivables . Default i s  defined as  a  s i tua*on in which a

customer does  not pay amounts  that i t owes to the Group and may occur due to a  number of reasons, including the financial

health of the customer or where the customer disputes  the amount owed and i t i s  not cons idered to be economical  to recover the

amount through a legal  process .

 

To calculate the credit loss  provis ion, trade receivables  have been spl i t into different categories  a long three l ines: region, aging

and publ ic/private sector. The expected loss  rates  appl ied to these categories  are as  fol lows;

 

·    Region - 0.7% to 8.5%

·    Aging - 0.5% to 10%

·    Publ ic/Private - 0.8%/1.8%

 

The expected loss  rates  are based on the Group's  historical  credit losses  experienced over the three year period prior to the

period end. The historical  loss  rates  are then adjusted for current and forward-looking informa*on on macroeconomic factors

affecting the Group's  customers.

 

The crea*on and release of a  provis ion for impaired receivables  has  been included in 'administra*ve expenses ' in the

consol idated statement of comprehensive income. Amounts  charged to the al lowance account are general ly wriHen off, where

there is  no expectation of recovering additional  cash.

 

The other asset classes  within trade and other receivables  do not contain impaired assets .

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the repor*ng date is  the carrying value of each class  of receivable men*oned above

together with our cash deposits  total l ing £1,001,000 (2023: £2,248,000). The Group does  not hold any col lateral  as  securi ty.

 

Credit risk i s  a  judgement made by management based on sector and necessary a l lowances  are made when needed by assess ing

changes  in our customers ' credit profi les  and credit ratings .

 

 
14. Trade and other payables
 
Due within one year

2024
£'000

2023
£'000

Trade and other payables 9,781 10,304
Other taxes  and socia l  securi ty costs 349 1,496
RDEC deferred grant income 354 -
VAT payable 648 1,733

11,132 13,533
 

 

 

 

 

 

15. Leases



 

Group as  a  lessee

The Group leases  a  number of properties  in the jurisdictions  from which i t operates .

 

Set out below are the carrying amounts  of right-of-use assets  recognised and the movements  during the period:

 
Right-of-use assets Land & buildings

£'000s 

At 30 November 2022 1,896 
Additions 1,899 
Depreciation charge (1,526) 
Foreign exchange movements (79) 
At 30 November 2023 2,190 
Additions 1,870 
Depreciation charge (1,370) 
Disposals (312) 
Lease modification 721 
Foreign exchange movements (32) 
At 30 November 2024 3,067 
 
Set out below are the carrying amounts  of lease l iabi l i ties  and the movements  during the period:

  
 
Lease liabilities

Land & buildings
£'000s 

At 30 November 2022 2,517
 

Accretion of interest 229 
Additions 1.899 
Lease payments (2,029) 
Foreign exchange movements (83) 
At 30 November 2023 2,533 
Accretion of interest 198 
Effect of modification to lease terms 721 
Additions 1,716 
Reversal  of lease l iabi l i ties (684) 
Lease payments (1,211) 
Foreign exchange movements (34) 
At 30 November 2024 3,239 
   

  
Lease liability maturity analysis - undiscounted contractual cash flows 2024

£'000
2023

£'000
Less  than one year 1,238 1,388
Between one and five years 2,264 1,370
More than five years - -
 3,502 2,758

 

 

 

 

The fol lowing are the amounts  to be recognised in profi t or loss :

 
 2024

£'000
2023

£'000  
Depreciation charge 1,370 1,526
Interest expense on lease l iabi l i ties 198 229
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 1,568 1,755  

 

The Group had total  cash ouOlows for leases  of £1,211,000 in 2024 (2023: £2,029,000). The Group also had non-cash addi*ons

to right-of-use assets  of £1,870,000 (2023: 308,000) and lease l iabi l i*es  of Al l  Contract l iabi l i*es  are expected to be recognised

within one year.

 

£1,716,000 in 2024 (2023: £308,000). There are no leases  that have not yet commenced to be disclosed. There were no short-term

leases  or low value leases  taken out in the year.

 

 

16. Contract Liabilities



16. Contract Liabilities
 2024

£'000
2023

£'000
 

At 1 December 15,031 11,019
Invoiced during the year 63,105 66,414
Revenue recognised during the year (61,997) (62,402)
At 30 November 16,139 15,031  

 

Al l  Contract l iabi l i ties  are expected to be recognised within one year.

 

 

17. Financial instruments

 

The Group's  treasury ac*vi*es  are des igned to provide suitable, flexible funding arrangements  to sa*sfy the Group's

requirements . The Group uses  financial  instruments  compris ing borrowings, cash, l iquid resources  and i tems such as  trade

receivables  and payables  that arise directly from i ts  opera*ons. The main risks  aris ing from the Group financial  instruments

relate to the maintaining of l iquidity across  the Group's  en**es and debt col lec*on. The Board reviews pol icies  for managing

each of these risks  and they are summarised below. The Group finances  i ts  opera*ons through a combina*on of cash resources,

loan notes  and equity. Short term flexibi l i ty i s  provided by moving resources  between the individual  subs idiaries .

 

Exposure to interest rate fluctua*ons is  minimal  as  a l l  borrowings  are at fixed rates  of interest. The Group also has  various

deposit faci l i*es  on which 0.01% - 2.4% interest was  being earned throughout 2024 (2023: 0.01% - 2.40%) and wi l l  be op*mis ing

the use of these accounts  going forward. The Group's  exposure to interest rate risk i s  not s ignificant and therefore no sens i*vity

analys is  has  been performed. Foreign exchange risk arises  when individual  Group enti ties  enter into transactions  denominated in

a currency other than their func*onal  currency. The Group's  pol icy is , where poss ible, to a l low Group en**es to seHle l iabi l i*es

denominated in their func*onal  currency with the cash generated from their own opera*ons in that currency. W here Group

en**es have l iabi l i*es  denominated in a  currency other than their func*onal  currency (and have insufficient reserves  of that

currency to seHle them), cash already denominated in that currency wi l l , where poss ible, be transferred from elsewhere within

the Group.

 

At 30 November 2024 the Group had £5,943,000 borrowings  (2023 £Ni l ).

 

There is  no materia l  difference between the fa ir values  and book values  of the Group's  financial  instruments . Short term trade

receivables  and payables  have been excluded from the above disclosures.

 

The objec*ves  of the Group's  treasury ac*vi*es  are to manage financial  ri sk, secure cost-effec*ve funding where necessary and

minimise the adverse effects  of fluctua*ons in the financial  markets  on the value of the Group's  financial  assets  and l iabi l i*es ,

on reported profitabi l i ty and on the cash flow of the Group. I nterest income is  sought wherever poss ible and in 2024 produced

£18,000 (2023: £12,000) of income.

 

The Group's  principal  financial  instruments  for fundrais ing are through share issues.

 
Financial instruments by category

 
2024

£'000

 
2023

£'000
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables  excluding prepayments 5,384 5,809
Cash and cash equivalents 1,001 2,248

6,385 8,057
Financial assets
Trade and other payables 11,132 10,304
Lease l iabi l i ties 3,239 2,533

14,371 12,837
Undiscounted contractual maturity of financial liabilities
Amounts  due within one year 12,370 11,692
Amounts  due between one and five years 2,264 1,370

14,634 13,062

Less: future interest charges (263) (225)
Financial  l iabi l i ties  carrying value 14,371 12,837
 

The l iquidity risk rela*ng to the contractual  l iabi l i*es  l i s ted above is  managed on a local  bas is  through their day to day cash

management. The Group is  l iquid with £1,001,000 (2023: £2,248,000) avai lable cash resources  against a  l iabi l i ty payable within

the next 12 months  of £12,370,000 (2023: £11,692,000). Management monitor cash balances  weekly. However should any

subsidiary, or the Company, find that i t does  not have the l iquidity to pay a  debt as  i t becomes due an inter-company cash

transfer wi l l  be made avai lable by another member of the Group.

 



 

Foreign exchange risk is  managed by assess ing the value of non-sterl ing revenue against the value of non-sterl ing costs  in each

currency. Currently no hedging is  cons idered necessary due to the natural  offset of revenues and costs  in each currency.

 

18. Financial and operational risk management

 

The Group's  ac*vi*es  expose i t to a  variety of financial  ri sks  which are managed by the Group and subs idiary management teams

as  part of their day-to-day responsibi l i*es. The Group's  overal l  ri sk management pol icy concentrates  on those areas  of exposure

most relevant to i ts  operations. These fa l l  into s ix categories :

 

• Economic or pol i*cal  disrup*on risk - that disrup*on may affect demand for our products  and services  or our abi l i ty to

maintain operations  or on the cost of our del ivery of services;

• Competitive risk - that our products  are no longer competitive or relevant to our customers;

• Treasury and l iquidity risk - that we run out of the cash required to run the bus iness;

• I nforma*on securi ty risk - the impacts  that could occur due to threats  and vulnerabi l i*es  associated with the opera*on and

use of information systems and the environments  in which those systems operate;

• Key personnel  risk - that we cannot attract and retain ta lented people; and

• Capital  ri sk - that we do not have an optimal  structure to a l low for future acquis i tion and growth.

 

Further information on these risks  and the Group's  actions  to mitigate them is  provided on pages  27 to 31 of the Strategic Report.

19. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

 

The fol lowing are the major deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i*es  recognised by the Group and the movements  thereon during the

current year and the prior year:  

 

Tax losses

Fixed asset
timing

differences

IFRS 16
  ROU
asset

IFRS 16 lease
liability

FV of
intangible

assets Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 November 2022 (4,309) 655 241 (291) 4,763 1,059
Charge to profi t or loss (3,020) 93 (145) 187 (223) (3,108)
Change due to FX 298 - - - - 298
At 1 November 2023 (7,031) 748 96 (104) 4,540 (1,751)
Charge to profi t or loss  120  498  287 (297) (755) (147)
Change due to FX  504 (404)  100
At 1 November 2024 (6,407)  1,246  383 (401)  3,381 (1,798)
 

At the repor*ng date the Group had unrecognised unused tax losses  of approximately £28,638,000 (2023: £19,680,000) avai lable

for offset against future profi ts . The tax losses  do not have any expiry date.

 

Deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i*es  are offset when there is  a  legal ly enforceable right to offset current tax assets  against current

tax l iabi l i*es  and when the deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i*es  relate to income taxes  levied by the same taxa*on authori ty on

either the taxable enti ty or di fferent taxable enti ties  where there is  an intention to settle the balances  on a net bas is .

 

£1,798,000 (2023: £1,751,000) of deferred tax losses  are recognised in excess  of the associated deferred tax l iabi l i*es  in

Austral ia  where future forecasted profits  are cons idered sufficient to u*l ise the excess  losses . Deferred tax assets  total l ing

£7,761,000 (2023: £4,920,000) aris ing in respect of losses  have not been included in the statement of financial  pos i*on due to

uncertainties  in regard to their recoverabi l i ty.

 

The aggregate amounts  of deferred tax balances  in each Group enti ty, after a l lowable offset, for financial  reporting purposes  are:
2024

£'000
2023

£'000
Deferred tax assets 5,884 6,808
Deferred tax l iabi l i ties (4,086) (5,057)
Total 1,798 1,751
 

 

20. Share Capital

 

Equity: Ordinary shares of 5p each
2024

£'000
2023

£'000

Al loHed, i ssued and ful ly paid 130,524,386 ordinary shares  of 5p
each (2023: 130,524,386 ordinary shares  of 5p each)

6,526 6,526

 
2024 2023



2024 2023

Number of shares  at 1 December and 30 November 130,524,386 130,524,386

 

 

 

At 1 December 2021, the Company had 2,927,315 5p shares  held in treasury. During 2021, 101,669 of these shares  were al loHed,

with the number of shares  held in treasury at the year end being 2,825,646. The shares  held in treasury have no vo*ng rights , or

rights  to dividends and so total  i ssued share capital  for vo*ng and dividend purposes  at the year end was 127,698,740 (2023:

127,698,740).

 

O n 14 June 2022, 53,351 shares  were al loHed out of treasury at a  price of 56.0p per share due to an exercise of employee share

options. Gross  proceeds were £30,000.

 

O n 14 July 2022, 48,318 shares  were al loHed out of treasury at a  price of 56.0p per share due to an exercise of employee share

op*ons. Gross  proceeds were £27,000. I n November 2022 and November 2023, the Company's  total  share capital  was

130,524,386 and the total  i ssued share capital  for vo*ng and dividend purposes, excluding shares  held in treasury, was

127,698,740.

 

Transac*on costs  associated with share issues  in the year amounted to £Ni l  (2023: £Ni l ). Transac*on costs  are accounted for as

a reduction from the share premium account.

 

O n 12th July 2024 a total  of 7,490,294 op*ons were granted with an exercise price of 5p and a stock price of 81p. This  i s  in

relation to the new LTIP scheme. More can be found on this  in note 21.

 
 

21. Equity-settled share-based payments

 

 
Date of grant Exercise price No of shares Exercisable between

23 October 2008 27.5p 1,390,481 No time l imit

18 February 2019 56.0p 3,211,682 Feb 2022-Feb 2029

24 October 2019 54.5p 366,972 Oct 2022-Oct 2029

31 July 2020 65.0p 1,511,915 Jul  2023-Jul  2030

19 May 2021 134.0p 294,130 May 2024-May 2031

01 October 2021 5.0p 118,807 Oct 2024-Oct 2031

12 July 2024 5.0p 7,490,294 Nov 2026 - Nov 2028

14,384,281

 

Detai ls  of the movements  in the weighted average exercise price ("WAEP ") and number of share op*ons during the current and

prior year are as  fol lows:

 

 
At start of year Granted Exercised Forfeited At end of year

WAEP 2023 (p) 54.7 - - 63.6 54.5

WAEP 2024 (p) 54.5 - - 56.6 54.3

Options  2023 7,037,524 - - (143,537) 6,893,987

Options 2024 6,893,987 7,490,294 - (568,535) 13,815,746

 

The range of prices  at which options  and warrants  can be exercised is  27.5p to 134.0p.

During the year there were 7,490,294 options  granted (2023: Ni l ).

 

The total  charge aris ing on issue of the op*ons was £Ni l , with the 2023 charge being £Ni l . 568,535 op*ons were cancel led in the

year (2023: 143,537).

 

During the year, Ni l  share options  were exercised.

 



There are no market, non-market or service condi*ons as  part of the share op*on scheme. The only condi*on exis*ng is  that

employees  must sti l l  be in employment with the Company at the point they exercise the options.

 

Long Term Value Creation Plan ("LTVCP")

 

O n 2 O ctober 2021 the Board approved the LTVC P  which is  intended to ass ist with the reten*on and mo*va*on of key employees

of the Company with the aim of incen*vis ing and rewarding excep*onal  levels  of performance over a  four year period. The LTVC P

wi l l  provide the poten*al  for rewards  only i f shareholders  benefit from sustained growth in shareholder value over a  four-year

period.

 

The detai ls  of the awards  for the ini tia l  LTVCP participants  are set out below:

 

Under the LTVC P, the Board has  granted certain el igible employees  a  right ("Par*cipa*on Right") to receive a  propor*on of the

shareholder value created above a hurdle ("Hurdle Rate"). The Hurdle Rate has  been set at a  12.5 per cent. compound annual

growth rate.

 

For the purposes  of the LTVC P, shareholder value created is  defined as  the growth in the Company's  market capital isa*on

including net equity cashflows to shareholders  and adjusting for any share issues  during the Performance Period.

 

Awards  under the LTVC P  comprise three equal  tranches, with measurement dates  on the second, third and fourth anniversaries  of

the performance start date (each a "Performance Period").

 

The shareholder value created at each measurement date wi l l  be calculated with reference to the average market capital isa*on of

the Company over the three months  immediately preceding and ending on each anniversary.

 

W here value is  created above the Hurdle Rate, ini*al  LTVC P  par*cipants  wi l l  share 10 per cent. of the shareholder value created

above the hurdle ("LTVCP Pool").

 

Should the aggregate nominal  value of Shares  to be issued or then capable of being issued in respect of each Performance Period

exceed 7 per cent. of the nominal  value of the ordinary share capital  in i ssue of the Company at that *me, the LTVC P  Pool  wi l l  be

scaled back as  required so that the 7 per cent. threshold is  not exceeded.

 

To the extent that performance does  not exceed the hurdle over each Performance Period, the relevant tranche wi l l  lapse in ful l .

 

For the ini*al  par*cipants , the performance start date to measure each Performance Period has  been determined as  the date of

the announcement of the I sen*a acquis i*on, being 15 June 2021. The base value for the purposes  of the calcula*on of growth in

shareholder value has  been set at c.£153.1 mi l l ion (being calculated by reference to the total  number of O rdinary Shares  with

vo*ng rights  fol lowing comple*on of the I sen*a acquis i*on and the placing price of 120p for the equity ra ise announced on 15

June 2021).

 

At the end of each Performance Period, the Par*cipa*on Right wi l l  convert into an award in the form of an op*on to acquire

Ordinary Shares  at a  price per Ordinary Share equal  to the nominal  value of an Ordinary Share, being

5 pence per O rdinary Share ("Award"). The number of O rdinary Shares  to be issued pursuant to each Award wi l l  be calculated by

reference to the Company's  share price at the relevant time.

 

Awards  are subject to a  Holding Period ending on the first anniversary of the end of each Performance Period in respect of which

the relevant Award was granted, unless  the Board determines  that another period shal l  be speci fied in relation to any Award.

 

The Board has  discre*on to vary the outcome applying to a  Par*cipa*on Right where i t cons iders  that the level  at which i t would

convert into an Award: does  not reflect the Board's  assessment of overal l  performance during the Performance Period; i s  not

appropriate in the context of ci rcumstances  that were unexpected or unforeseen at the grant date; or any other appropriate

reason.

 

Joanna Arnold and Mark Fautley have each been granted Par*cipa*on Rights  under the LTVC P. Joanna Arnold's  Par*cipa*on

Percentage has  been set at 22% and Mark Fautley's  Par*cipa*on Percentage has  been set at 11%. I n aggregate, ini*al  LTVC P

par*cipants  Par*cipa*on Percentages  equate to a  total  of 73% of the avai lable Par*cipa*on Rights . The unal located

Par*cipa*on Rights  have been set as ide to provide the Company the flexibi l i ty to award further Par*cipa*on Rights  to el igible

employees  during the performance period. No further awards  wi l l  be granted to Joanna Arnold and Mark Fautley under the LTVC P

prior to the end of the four-year performance under the ini tia l  award.

 



2024
£'000

2023
£'000

2022
£'000

L Gi lbert 27,500 40,000 40,000
M Royde 13,333 - 40,000

 
 

 

O n 12th July 2024 a total  of 7,490,294 op*ons were granted with an exercise price of 5p and a stock price of 81p. This  i s  in

relation to the new LTIP scheme. More can be found on this  in note 21.

 

The option movements  detai led above resulted in a  share-based payment charge for the Group of £445,000 (2023: £915,000).

 

 

22. Cash and cash equivalents

 

The Group monitors  i ts  exposure to l iquidity risk based on the net cash flows that are avai lable. The fol lowing provides  an

analys is  of the changes  in net funds:

As at 30
November 2023

£'000

 
Cash outflow

£'000

As at 30
November 2024

£'000
Cash and cash equivalents 2,248 (1,247) 1,001

As at 30
November 2022

£'000

 
Cash outflow

£'000

As at 30
November 2023

£'000
Cash and cash equivalents 4,922 (2,674) 2,248
 

 

23. Capital commitments, provisions and contingent liabilities

 

Capital commitments

The Group had no capital  commitments  at the end of the financial  year or prior year.

 
Provisions and contingent liabilities
 Long Service Leave Provision

Leasehold
dilapidations

 
Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 December 2023 55 335 390
Additions 21 118 139
Released in the year - (225) (225)
Foreign exchange movement - (2) (2)
At 30 November 2024 76 226 302
Due within one year - - -
Due after more than one year 76 226 302
 

Leasehold di lapida*ons relate to the es*mated cost of returning a  leasehold property to i ts  original  s tate at the end of the lease

in accordance with the lease terms. The main uncertainty relates  to es*ma*ng the cost that wi l l  be incurred at the end of the

lease.

 

The earl iest point at which i t i s  cons idered that this  amount may become payable is  August 2027 for the Group's  leasehold

property.

 

Employees  in Austral ia  are en*tled to two months  of long service leave upon the comple*on of 10 years  service under The Long

Service Leave Act 1955. The Long service leave provis ion relates  to the expected cost of this  leave.

 

24. Related party transactions

 

Two (2023: two) of the directors  have received a propor*on of their remunera*on through their companies  during the year. The

payments  represent short term employee benefits . I n a l l  cases  the directors  are responsible for their own taxa*on and na*onal

insurance l iabi l i ties .

 

The amounts  involved are as  fol lows and relate to activi ties  within their responsibi l i ties  as  directors :

 

 

 
 

 



 

O n the 29 August 2024 L Gi lbert res igned as  a  director. P revious ly they received their remunera*on, £27,500 (2023: £40,000)

through a service company.

 

During the year, the Group recognised a share-based payment charge of £45,000 (2023: £147,836) in respect of key management

personnel .

 

During the year ended 30 November 2019, the Group made avai lable a  loan faci l i ty of £100,000 to Track Record Holdings  Limited

on an unsecured bas is . The final  repayment date of the faci l i ty i s  November 2029 and interest i s  payable at a  rate of 10% on any

amount drawn down from the faci l i ty. A non-u*l isa*on fee of 1% of any amount of the faci l i ty not drawn down is  a lso payable.

See note 12 for further detai ls .

 

25. Pension commitments

I ndividual  subs idiaries  of the Group operate defined contribu*on pension schemes for their employees. The assets  of the

schemes are held separately from those of the Group.

The annual  contribu*ons payable are charged to the consol idated statement of comprehensive income when they fa l l  due for

payment.

 

During the year £1,717,000 (2023: £1,978,000) was  contributed by the Group to individual  pens ion schemes. At 30 November

2024 £Ni l  pens ion contributions  were outstanding (2023: £Ni l ).

 

 

26. Interest bearing loans and borrowings

 

As at 30 November 2024, the Group had the fol lowing interest-bearing loans  and borrowings:

 
Currency Loan Type Interest Types Amount Repayment Terms
GBP Overdraft I nterest i s  calculated on the cleared dai ly

balance of the Account at a  rate of 4.00% per
annum over the base rate

£3,000,000 I nterest i s  calculated monthly in
arrears . Repayment is  due on
demand. O verdra& extended to
30 November 2025.

GBP Loan 4.00% per annum over the
base rate

£3,000,000 I nterest (7.25%) and annual
commitment fee payable of 5%
are paid quarterly. Ful l
repayment due on 20 November
2025.

 

 

Pulsar Group Plc has  an unsecured loan faci l i ty of £3m in place with Herald Investment Trust Plc, due for ful l  repayment

on 20 November 2025.

 

Pulsar Group Plc has  an authorised overdraft faci l i ty with Bank of Scotland.

 

Interest Expense

The total  interest and commitment fees  paid to Herald during the period of the loan 20 May 2024 - 30 November 2024 

were interest: £75,381 and commitment fee: £79,918.

 

Overdraft Fees

 

The total  overdraft interest fees  paid to Bank of Scotland for the period 1 December 2023 to 30 November 2024 are

£191,135.

 

 

27. Events after the reporting date

 

Extension of Loan Terms

 

Subsequent to the repor*ng date, the Group reached an agreement with Herald I nvestment Trust P lc to extend the repayment terms

of the £3,000,000 loan that was  class ified as  a  current l iabi l i ty as  at 30 November 2024. The revised agreement, final ised on 15



Apri l  2025, extends the loan's  maturi ty to 31 July 2026, beyond 12 months  from the reporting date.

 

Subsequent to the repor*ng date, the Group reached an agreement with Bank of Scotland to extend the £3,000,000 overdra&

faci l i ty that was  class ified as  a  current l iabi l i ty as  at 30 November 2024. The revised agreement, final ised on 17 December 2024,

extends the loan's  maturi ty to 30 November 2025.

 

 

As  a l l  the events  men*oned above were entered into a&er the end of the repor*ng period, i t i s  treated as  a  non-adjus*ng event in

accordance with I AS 10 Events  A&er the Repor*ng Period. No adjustment has  been made to the carrying amount of the l iabi l i ty as

at 30 November 2024. This  disclosure is  provided to inform users  of the financial  s tatements  of developments  affec*ng the

Group's  financing and l iquidity pos ition after the reporting date.

 

 

28. Availability of Annual Report

 

Copies  of the Report and Accounts  wi l l  be posted to shareholders  where requested and the document wi l l  be avai lable from the

Company's  website (www.pulsargroup.com) later today.
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